

Carbon nanotubes

Exposure, toxicology and protective measures in the work environment

Kunskapsöversikt

Carbon nanotubes

Exposure, toxicology and protective measures in the work environment

Authors: Per Gustavsson, Maria Hedmer, Jenny Rissler

Reference group: Maria Albin, Mats Bohgard, Martin Kanje, Steffen Loft Rapport 2011:1

Preface

The Swedish Work Environment Authority (Arbetsmiljöverket) has been given an assignment by the Government to inform and disseminate knowledge on areas of importance for the work environment. Over the next few years, a number of summary reviews of current knowledge will be published in which renowned scientists summarise the current know-how within a number of themes. The manuscripts have been reviewed by external assessors and have been discussed in seminars at their respective universities.

The reports are available at no charge on Arbetsmiljöverket's website. There are also materials available from the seminars which Arbetsmiljöverket has arranged in connection with the publication of the reports.

The working group at the Work Environment Authority that has initiated and organized the production of the summary reviews was led by Professor Jan Ottosson. We would also like to thank other colleagues at Arbetsmiljöverket who have been helpful in producing the reports.

The views expressed in this report are the author's own and do not necessarily reflect the views of Arbetsmiljöverket.

Jan Ottosson

The authors

This report has been written on behalf of Arbetsmiljöverket by researchers working at Lund University in research collaborations between Metalund and Nano-Safety. This summary overview of current knowledge is a compilation of literature in the field of carbon nanotubes and deals with occupational exposure, toxicology and protective measures used in the work environment. Issues which in accordance with the assignment were to be investigated included - what the exposure situation was like during production, processing and handling of products containing carbon nanotubes. A compilation of advice and guidelines on safety and protection devices and personal protective equipment is also presented. The toxicological data available for carbon nanotubes has also been summarized. The purpose of the overview is to provide Arbetsmiljöverket with information and support for different types of measures. The overview may also provide support if special hygienic limit values within the area or other regulations are being considered. The report is based on original work and summary reviews identified in scientific databases based on systematic literature searches. For the section that deals with toxicology, a selection of relevant articles has been included. The remaining findings will be detailed in a document currently being presented to the Nordic Expert Group (NEG) for the production of criteria documents on chemical health risks.

The report was written by PhD Per Gustavsson, the Department of Biology, University of Lund, PhD Maria Hedmer, Division of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Lund University and PhD Jenny Rissler, Department of Ergonomics and Aerosol Technology, Lund University.

A reference group of experts has been attached to this assignment and is made up of the following people: Associate Professor Maria Albin, the Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Lund University; Professor Mats Bohgard, The Department of Ergonomics and Aerosol Technology, Lund University; Professor Martin Kanje, the Department of Biology, Lund University; and Professor Steffen Loft, Institut for Folkesundhedsvidenskab, University of Copenhagen.

Abbreviations

APS	aerodynamic particle sizer
CPC	condensation particle counter
CVD	chemical vapour deposition
DMA	differential mobility analyser
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EDX	energy dispersive X-ray analyser
ELPI	electrical low-pressure impactor
ESP	electrostatic precipitator
FID	flame ionization detector
FMPS	fast mobility particle sizer
HEPA	high efficiency particulate air
HiPCO	high pressure carbon monoxide
HSE	Health and Safety Executive
ICP-MS	induktivt kopplad-plasma masspektrometri
IFA	Institute for Occupational Safety and Health of the German Social
	Accident Insurance
i.p.	intraperitoneally (into the abdominal cavity
i.v.	intravenously
LOEL	lowest observable effect level
LOD	limit of detection
MCE	mixed cellulose ester
MWCNT	multi-wall carbon nanotubes
N/A	not available, sample not taken
ND	not detected
NIOSH	National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health
NMAM	NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods
NOEL	no observable effect limit
OPC	optical particle counter
PAS	photoelectric aerosol sensor
SEM	scanning electron microscope
SMPS	scanning mobility particle sizer
STEM	scanning transmission electron microscope
SWCNT	single-wall carbon nanotubes
TEM	transmission electronic microscope
TP	thermophoretic precipitator
UCPC	ultrafine condensation particle counter
WHO	World Health Organisation

Contents

Preface	3
The authors	4
Abbreviations	5
1. Summary	8
1.1 Conclusions	. 12
2. Introduction	. 13
3. Classification of carbon nanotubes	. 14
4. Physical and other chemical properties	. 15
4.1 Mechanical properties	. 16
4.1.1 Carbon nanotubes as composite materials	. 16
4.2. Electrical characteristics	. 17
4.3 Chemical properties	. 17
4.4 Purification processes	. 18
4.5 Functionalization	. 19
4.6 Challenges for toxicological studies	. 20
5. Inhalation and pulmonary deposition	. 21
6. Occurrence, manufacture and use	. 21
6.1 Occurrence	. 21
6.2 Manufacture	. 22
6.2.1 Chemical vapour deposition	. 24
6.2.2 Arc discharge	. 24
6.2.3 Laser ablation	. 24
6.3 Occurence in the work environment	. 24
6.3.1 Occupational exposure in the manufacture of carbon nanotubes	. 26
6.3.2 Occupational exposure in laboratory work	.27
6.3.3 Occupational exposure during the machining of products containing	20
cardon nanotudes	. 28
7. Possibilities of measuring exposure in a work environment	. 29
7.1 Airborne Exposure	. 29
7.1.1 Detemination of total dust	. 29
7.1.2 Detemination of respirable dust	. 29
7.1.3 Detemination of respirable fibre concentrations	. 29
7.1.4 Detemination of the number concentration of carbon nanotubes	. 29
7.1.5 Characterization by aerosol instruments	. 30

7.2 Dermal exposure	. 30
7.3 Summary and discussion	. 30
8. Occupational exposure data	. 33
8.1 Mass concentration	. 33
8.1.1 SWCNT	. 33
8.1.2 MWCNT	. 33
8.2 Respirable fibre concentration	. 34
 8.3 Number of carbon nanotubes. 8.4 Characterization. 8.4.1 Number concentration and size distribution 40. 8.4.2 Particle morphology. 8.5 Dermal supremum 	. 34 .37 .37 .37 .37
8.5 Dermai exposure	38
9. Toxicokinetics	. 39
9.1 Absorption and distribution	. 39
9.2 Biotransformation	. 40
9.3 Excretion and elimination	. 41
10. Toxic mechanisms	. 42
10.1 Oxidative stress 10.1.1 Oxidative stress can lead to DNA and protein damage	. 42 . 42
10.2 Frustrated phagocytosis	. 42
10.2.1 Frustraded phagocytosis can lead to inflammation and oxidative	
stress	. 42
11. Effects on cells and animal experiments	. 44
11.1 Mortality	. 44
11.2. Cardiovascular effects	. 44
11.3 Effects on the liver and the spleen	. 45
11.4 Effects on the airways	. 45
11.4.1 Co-exposure of the airways	. 46
11.5 Irritation	. 46
11.6 The nervous system	. 46
11.7 Skin	. 46
11.8.Reproduction	. 46
11.9 Genotoxic effects	. 47
11.10 Carcinogenicity	. 47
11.11 Short-term and long-term effects after repeated exposure (up to 90 days)	. 47
11.12 Summery and discussion	. 48
12 Efforts on humans	59

13. Occupational exposure limits	61
14. Safety and protection devices and personal protective equipment	61
14.1 Control banding	61
14.2 Safety and protection devices	61
14.3 Personal protective equipment	61
14.3.1 Respiratory protective equipment	61
14.3.2 Protective gloves	61
14.3.3 Protective clothing	62
14.4 Cleaning	62
14.5 Waste disposal of carbon nantubes	62
14.6 Summary	62
15. Future research needs	63
16. References	64

Summary

The use of carbon nanotubes has increased substantially in recent years, and is expected to continue to increase strongly in the future. Increased production, handling and machining increase the risk of exposure in different work environments. Today, the production of carbon nanotubes takes place mainly in non-Nordic countries, but carbon nanotubes are used in the Nordic countries in research and development work. Carbon nanotubes are used mainly as a reinforcement material in various types of polymers, i.e. in composites, but there is considerable potential for use with other applications.

More recently people have become increasingly aware that the properties of nanoparticles may be substantially different than those of larger particles of the same material, parallels have also been drawn between the fibre-like shape of carbon nanotubes and asbestos.

It is therefore necessary to study the toxicity of carbon nanotubes to assess the risks associated with their handling and, if necessary, implement regulations, in the form of occupational exposure limits.

In this report, we have taken into account exposure via ingestion, inhalation and the skin. Inhalation appears to be the route of exposure that is associated with the greatest potential risk, since a carbon nanotube is a material which, in bulk form, has a very low density and produces a lot of dust during handling. Measurements also show that the highest occupational exposure takes place precisely when handling dry bulk material of carbon nanotubes.

Carbon nanotubes are a whole class of nanomaterials, not a single material, because there are many different types of carbon nanotubes regarding diameter, length, chiral angles, chemical functionalization, purity and bulk density (often related to dusting propensity).

Exposure to the working environment and measurement methods

Characteristic of a carbon nanotube is that its mass is small, but the number of nanoparticles is very large because of the low density. The majority of the exposure measurements at different workplaces where carbon nanotubes are produced or used have been traditional dust measurements, where mass concentration was determined. The measured levels have typically been 0.1 mg/m3 or less, but even higher concentrations have been reported. Results from this type of measurement are uncertain, because the method does not specifically measure the carbon nanotubes, but also includes other airborne particulates in the determined mass dose. To date, the measurement methodologies that have been used have mainly provided exposure data for emissions and possible exposure to carbon nanotubes at workplaces and supporting documentation for the evaluation of safety and protection devices. Measurements have been made over short periods and of a few number of work operations/exposure situations. Furthermore, different types of sampling equipment have been used, making it difficult to compare the results.

There is a need for a standardized measurement methodology for the quantification of occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes. In order to distinguish carbon nanotubes from other airborne particles, an analysis is required using scanning electron or transmission electron microscopy. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, NIOSH, is now examining the effectiveness of their method for measuring diesel particulate matter (the analysis of elemental carbon) to test if it can also be used to determine the mass of carbon nanotubes, since they are also composed mainly of carbon. The sampling of carbon nanotubes could then be done with "open-face" filter cassettes with a quartz filter (to determine the total amount of dust) to be subsequently analyzed by thermal-optical analysis with a flame ionization detector (FID). Simultaneous sampling of "open-face" filter cassettes with an MCE filter (determination of total amount of dust) for the analysis of transmission electron microscopy would still be needed to ensure specificity.

When a reliable measurement methodology is available to determine the mass of carbon nanotubes, more workplaces must be examined and more full-day measurements must be carried out. Furthermore, personal sampling in the breathing zone must be carried out for more work operations/exposure situations. When reliable exposure data for carbon nanotubes is available only then will it be possible to carry out a risk assessment for carbon nanotubes.

Today, there is not enough knowledge about either the health effects or the exposure levels when handling carbon nanotubes; a precautionary principle should therefore prevail in the manufacture, handling and use of carbon nanotubes, and the machining of materials containing carbon nanotubes. In practice this means that you should use established safety and protection devices such as enclosures and process ventilation, together with personal protective equipment such as respiratory protective equipment, protective gloves and protective clothing.

Toxic effects

It is currently difficult to draw clear conclusions regarding the toxicity of carbon nanotubes. The fact that the physical properties of carbon nanotubes vary and that they contain pollutants from manufacturing processes such as metals complicates the interpretation of the results from completed toxicology tests. In some publications, a clear characterization of the physical properties and pollutants for the carbon nanotubes that have been used in experiments is lacking.

Several studies suggest that carbon nanotubes could pose a health risk, since effects on laboratory animals occur at relatively low concentrations. At the same time, there are studies that do not report any negative effects, or effects only at high doses. These studies fall short in some cases in their description of the experimental methodology or in how closely the effects have been studied. Relevant studies on humans are lacking.

Because of the physical similarities between asbestos and carbon nanotubes, there are suspicions that they might have similar biological effects, i.e. cause fibrosis of the lungs and respiratory passages, as well as lung cancer and mesothelioma (a malignant tumour originating from mesothelial cells, usually in the pleura). We believe that exposure through inhalation is a potential risk when working with carbon nanotubes, since it has been observed that both single-walled and multi-walled carbon nanotubes may cause inflammation and fibrosis in the respiratory passages, lungs and pleura in relevant animal types. Some studies suggest that longer carbon nanotubes cause greater biological effects than shorter carbon nanotubes. There are not enough longterm studies with repeated exposure in order to draw safe conclusions about the capacity of carbon nanotubes to cause lung cancer or mesothelioma. Several findings have been made in which carbon nanotubes have caused damage to and mutations of DNA, indicating that repeated long-term exposure could increase the risk of developing cancer.

Based on the effects on laboratory animals, the lowest dose observed to cause adverse effects on the respiratory passages (inflammation and slight granuloma formation) from 0.2 to 0.3 mg/kg of body weight, the lowest air concentration where this has been observed is 0.1 mg/m3. At higher levels, more serious damage to the lungs can be observed as well with effects on the heart. After exposure to doses of 0.06 mg/kg body weight via tube-feeding, DNA damage occurred.

There is a risk that other organs other than the lungs may be exposed to carbon nanotubes if they pass into the bloodstream. A transition of this type could occur in the lung or gastrointestinal tract. Carbon nanotubes could end up in the gastrointestinal tract after being transported by the cilia in the respiratory passage up to the throat, where the nanotubes are then swallowed.

There are major gaps in knowledge regarding the health effects of carbon nanotubes. It is particularly important that more long-term studies are conducted with laboratory animals to measure the effects after inhalation, but more studies are needed of the reproductive effects and effects of skin exposure. The functionalization of carbon nanotubes, i.e. by binding chemical groups to the tubes strongly affects the half-life period in the blood and may influence their biological effects. More studies therefore are needed with respiratory exposure with functionalized carbon nanotubes. Human data is lacking.

1.1 Conclusions

An important issue for handling carbon nanotubes concerns their classification. Should they be classified as a separate substance or as carbon which is the main substance in the tubes, and should in that case, all tubes be classified as a substance or as single or multi-walled carbon nanotubes, with their respective functionalizations and be riskassessed accordingly. Research indicates that the toxic properties of carbon nanotubes may be different from other types of nanoparticles that are made up of layers of graphene. It would suggest that carbon nanotubes should have a specific classification.

The risk assessment for carbon nanotubes is made more difficult by a lack of knowledge at several levels: 1) Consensus is lacking as to which dose-metric that is most relevant for health effects; 2) Carbon nanotubes can be found in a large number of variants that are likely to have different levels of toxicity; 3) The toxicological data is inadequate but indicates that there is a risk of inflammatory reaction and pulmonary fibrosis when inhaled at relatively low doses; there is also the risk of producing a DNA-damaging effect; 4) Exposure levels for the commercial handling of carbon nanotubes are incompletely characterized.

While waiting for the level of understanding to become clear, a strategy for the regulation of occupational exposure-related conditions may be to take note of the effects observed for the most toxic of carbon nanotubes. The proposed international occupational exposure limits are at very low levels. Airborne exposure arises from the manufacture, handling, and use of carbon nanotubes and in the machining of products containing carbon nanotubes. Established technical protective measures such as encapsulation and process ventilation should be applied in conjunction with personal protective equipment such as respiratory protective equipment, protective gloves and protective clothing.

2. Introduction

Observations of carbon nanotubes were first reported in scientific literature in 1991 (lijima, 1991) and have since been the subject of much research. After the discovery and characterization of carbon nanotubes, numerous areas of use have been proposed and carbon nanotubes have been predicted as being able to contribute revolutionary properties to materials within areas such as mechanical strength, electrical properties, chemical stability, and medical applications.

Today, carbon nanotubes are used primarily in composites, for instance in plastics and rubber to make them lighter or stronger (Lam et al., 2006). Nanocomposite materials, which typically contain between 1-10% carbon nanotubes, are used for the manufacture of parts for automobiles and aircraft, wind power blades, and sports equipment (Hussain et al., 2006, Köhler et al., 2008, Sass et al., 2008, Thomas et al., 2009; KEMI 2009). The market also produces mobile phones and laptops with lithium-ion batteries that contain carbon nanotubes (Köhler et al., 2008; IRAP, 2011). Carbon nanotubes are also found in antifouling paints for boats (Nanocyl, 2010). The global production of carbon nanotubes is currently in excess of 2.5 tons/day.

Some future potential applications proposed for carbon nanotubes are textiles, building materials, electronics, energy systems, biomedicine, membrane technology and medical applications (Bhushan 2004, Aitken et al., 2006, Schneider et al., 2007, Endo et al., 2008, Köhler et al., 2008; Kostarelos et al., 2009; Aschberger et al., 2010; Barkauskas et al., 2010). Although it has been 20 years since the discovery, the actual areas of use for carbon nanotubes are currently very limited, mainly because of problems with well-controlled mass production. It is predicted that the largest field of application in the future will be composite materials, which do not require as high purity and as well-defined characteristics as with many electronics applications.

The use of carbon nanotubes is predicted to grow substantially in the future along with people's exposure to them at workplaces. In order to use carbon nanotubes to their full potential, one of the challenges is to deal with the tubes in a safe manner during manufacturing, processing, during use and during disposal. This report is a synopsis of the properties of carbon nanotubes, exposure situations that exist during production, processing and the handling of products containing carbon nanotubes and a summary as to what is known of the toxicology of carbon nanotubes.

3 Classification of carbon nanotubes

Carbon nanotubes consist of carbon atoms that are structured in layers of graphene rolled into the shape of a cylinder. Each carbon atom of graphene is symmetrical bound to three other carbon atoms, one-atom thick, which in turn form hexagonal rings (Figure 1). Carbon nanotubes can be open or closed at the ends. It is customary to categorize the carbon nanotubes into two groups - single-walled and multi-walled. A carbon nanotube that consists of only one layer of graphene is usually called a singlewalled carbon nanotube or SWCNT (from Single-Walled Carbon NanoTube). The multi-walled nanotubes consist of several layers of graphene shaped into concentric cylinders, which are bound together by van der Waals forces. In this report we will to refer to multi-walled carbon nanotubes as MWCNT (from Multi-Walled Carbon NanoTube). As MWCNT consists of several layers of graphene, they will have a larger diameter than SWCNT. The most extreme MWCNT can be made up of up to several hundred concentric cylinders with a typical distance between the layers of graphene of ~ 0.34 nm (Popov, 2004). Even if carbon nanotubes are generally categorized into these two groups, each group can consist of a complex mixture of tubes of varying length, diameter, crystalline structure, surface chemistry, etc.

Typically, the diameter of a carbon nanotube is in the range of 1-100 nm (10-9 m) – single-walled with a diameter of around 1-3 nm (Jorio et al., 2001) and multi-walled normally 10-200 nm (Hou et al., 2003). The diameter of the tubes depends on the method of production in which the diameter of the catalytic metal particles used plays a decisive role, particularly for single-walled tubes. Even if the length of carbon nanotubes may vary, they are typically in the order of tens of micrometers. The longest carbon nanotube reported measured 18 cm (Wang et al., 2009) and the shortest is the organic compound cycloparaphenylene, which was synthesized in early 2009 in Berkley (http://www.lbl.gov/msd/assets/docs/highlights/09-Bertozzi.pdf). The length of the tubes varies dependent on the manufacturing and purification process. During the purification process, when residues and impurities from the manufacturing process are removed; the nanotubes tend to be shorter due to the destructive conditions the tubes are subject to during purification (Liu et al., 1998).

The atomic structure of carbon nanotubes is described by the tube's chiral angle. The chiral angle determines how twisted the hexagons are in the graphene structure, as illustrated in Figure 1. Since the distance between the carbon atoms in the graphene structure is constant, tubes of different chiral angles will have different diameters. Multi-walled carbon nanotubes usually have adjacent concentric graphene layers hence the varying chiral angles.



Figur 1. a-b) The atomic structure of single-walled carbon nanotubes for two types of tubes: (a) shows a so-called "armchair" structure and (b) a zigzag structure. c) A diagram of different "twists" and chiral angles of a graphene sheet (source: Thostenson et al., 2001 Composites Science and Technology 61:1899-1912).

The chiral angle is often described by a vector (n, m) where n and m denote the integer of the unit vectors along the graphene structure (a1 and a2 in Figure 1). There are three main types of carbon nanotubes. If m=0 the nanotubes are of a zigzag type, if n=m they are of the armchair type, and any combination in between, they are referred to as of a chiral form.

1. The chiral angle of carbon nanotubes affects some of their properties such as mechanical properties, optical properties and, in particular, their electrical properties. Graphene itself is a semiconductor. Nanotubes in contrast, can be both metallic or semiconductors depending on the chiral angle. The mechanical properties are only affected minimally by the chiral angle (Thostenson et al., 2001).

4. Physical and other chemical properties

It is very rare that SWCNT (single-walled carbon nanotubes) are found as individual tubes; they are more often arranged in large bundles, 5-50 nm in diameter (Maynard et al., 2007), which are held together by van der Waals forces. These bundles in turn form themselves into larger agglomerates or clumps. MWCNT (multi-walled carbon nanotubes) appear more as individual tubes, but even these tend to form bundles (Lam et al., 2006). The cohesive van der Waals forces are however weaker for MWCNT than for SWCNT (Yu et al., 2000).

Due to their structure, carbon nanotubes have a very high surface area compared to their mass. The ratio of surface area and mass of the tubes depends on their diameter and the degree to which they form bundles. Individual SWCNT have a ratio (surface area to mass) of about 1300 m2/g, while MWCNT typically have a ratio of around a few hundred m2/g (Peigney et al., 2001). Because SWCNT form themselves into bundles, the effective ratio of surface area and mass is often smaller or around ~ 300 m2/g (Ye et al., 1999).

The density of carbon nanotubes in powder form is very low and is dependent on the method of manufacture. In a study which compared the bulk densities of carbon nanotubes produced by laser ablation and HiPCO ® (the High-Pressure Carbon Monoxide process) it was found that the latter method gave a more porous material with bulk densities on the order of 1 mg/cm3 (Baron et al. 2003). No density was specified for laser ablation. According to the specification by Baytubes ® products, these are of a density of ~ 120-170 mg/cm3. Other manufacturers indicate bulk densities of around ~ 100 mg/cm3.

4.1 Mechanical properties

One of the carbon nanotubes' coveted properties is that they have extreme strength. Single-walled carbon nanotubes are said to be around 10 times stronger than steel and 1-2 times stiffer (axial) than diamond (Walters et al., 1999, Yu et al., 2000) and are considered to be one of the stiffest materials. Its excellent mechanical properties come from the strong covalent bonds (sp² hybrids) that connect the carbon atoms in the graphene structure. Radially, nanotubes are relatively soft and easily deformed. A study has shown that the van der Waals forces from adjacent carbon nanotubes are sufficient to deform the tubes (Ruoff et al., 1993). They are very flexible (radial flexibility) and can be bent several times up to 90 degrees without being damaged.

4.1.1. Carbon nanotubes as composite materials

Much research has been done on the use of carbon nanotubes as composite materials, especially for plastic composites. In this way, the primary intention would be to make use of the tubes' mechanically advantageous properties but also their ability to modify the thermal and electrical properties of polymers (Thostenson et al., 2001; Harris, 2004). This application dominates the use of carbon nanotubes today in industry from a quantity point of view. In addition to polymers, tubes have been proposed for use in various other types of composite materials. Two examples are ceramic materials and metal composites.

One problem with carbon nanotubes as composite materials has been that they do not quite fasten to the material but tend to crack and become detached from the material and get pulled out instead of breaking off. This means that the tubes' characteristics cannot be fully exploited (Harris, 2004).

Carbon nanotubes in polymers also change the polymer's thermal and electrical properties (Kymakis et al., 2002). According to Harris (2004) the greatest effort has previously focussed on exploiting the mechanical properties of carbon nanotubes rather than their electrical properties, but electrical properties are now viewed with greater interest. If we could fully exploit the tubes' unique properties in composite materials, this would provide us with a material that is light, strong, rigid and thermally and electrically conductive.

4.2 Electrical characteristics

Carbon nanotubes are both electrically conductive and semiconductors. The electrical characteristics of the tubes are primarily determined by their chiral angle, but for tubes with a small diameter also by their surface curvature (Lu and Chen, 2005). Theoretically, metallic carbon nanotubes can conduct electricity with a density that is 1,000 times greater than metals such as copper. The electrical resistance of the tubes is determined by quantum mechanical phenomena and is independent of the tubes' length.

There are many applications for the use of carbon nanotubes as electrical components. For example, diodes could be produced by merging SWCNT that have different electrical properties (Chico et al., 1996). It has also been shown that the electrical properties of the tubes change during deformation and stretching. This further increases the potential for the use of carbon nanotubes in electromechanical components such as sensors (Mahar et al., 2007).

4.3 Chemical properties

As described in previous chapters, carbon nanotubes consist of carbon atoms which are bound in a hexagonal pattern. These build up layers of graphene which are rolled into long tubes. These tubes are relatively stable and can be heated to above 500°C before they oxidize and burn up (Zhang et al., 2002). The smaller diameter, the higher the reactive. Bulk samples of carbon nanotubes include not only carbon nanotubes but also, depending on the manufacturing procedures, a number of impurities of varying amounts. These can be classified into five groups (Donaldson et al., 2006):



When carbon nanotubes are manufactured, metals are often used as catalysts. The most common are iron, nickel, cobalt and molybdenum, of which nickel and cobalt are allergenic. In the production of SWCNT these catalytic metals are required, and the production of these often result in a material with a higher metal content than MWCNT. During production, support materials such as aluminium, manganese oxide or silica are also used.

The last group (Group 5) can be divided into two subgroups: i) organic molecules and ii) various forms of carbon such as soot particles, fullerenes or graphite (Lam et al., 2006). The degree and type of impurities depends on the production and purification method. Generally speaking, vapour phase methods tend to generate carbon

nanotubes with smaller amounts of impurities and are also considered to be easier to scale up. Production methods are discussed further in later chapters. Product specifications for Baytubes® carbon nanotubes indicate a purity of >95% (mass), whereas for other commercial products, a degree of purity of >60% and up to >99% is indicated (www.cheaptubes.com, 11-11-2011). In toxicological studies, the effect of impurities in the bulk samples used should be considered when certain impurities in such low quantities as 1% may in fact be toxic.

4.4 Purification processes

A critical point when it comes to scaling up the production of carbon nanotubes for certain applications with high demands on specification and homogeneity, is purity and the sorting of carbon nanotubes. This is important also when designing toxicological tests for a deeper understanding of the mechanism behind the toxicity of the tubes.

Today there are several different types of purification methods, but there still remains a lot of areas where the work can be improved, for instance, to scale up production (Liu et al., 1998, Barkauskas et al., 2010). Even if the metal catalyst, to a great extent, can be purified of the bulk material, significant amounts nevertheless remain (Donaldson et al., 2006). Because the purification process itself can damage the nanotubes, the extent of the purification must be balanced against the fact that the purification process also introduces impurities into the product in the form of damaged carbon nanotubes. For example, ultra-pure samples of carbon nanotubes often have defects in the form of carboxyl groups (Donaldson et al., 2006). Another reason why SWCNT to date are being used for relatively few commercial applications, despite the great potential that exists in the material, is that for many purposes the bulk material is not sufficiently uniform (Hersam, 2008). To overcome this, much effort has been devoted to developing purification/and sorting processes.

Basically, there are two main types of purification processes: 1) sorting out impurities, and 2) selective methods to provide a more homogeneous sample of the carbon nanotube with respect to for example diameter, length or electrical properties. Amorphous carbon, metallic residues and support materials are frequently washed away by ultrasonic bathing in combination with acids or bases. Certain types of impurities such as silica or aluminium, however, require strong acids. To avoid exposing the carbon nanotubes to these more destructive purification methods, support materials that are dissolved in mild acids are increasingly being used (such as magnesium oxide). Other types of treatment procedures include magnetic purification, functionalization and microfiltration. Combinations of different methods are often used.

To generate a more homogeneous material, chromatographic methods can be used to separate tubes of equal length and diameter. The method with the highest resolution can separate tubes of different lengths and provides a resolution of <10% (Huang et al., 2005). Carbon nanotubes of different diameters can also be separated by "density-gradient ultracentrifugation (DGU), (Hersam, 2008). Many types of applications require tubes, however, that are of an even greater uniformity than can be generated by

DGU, which places greater demands on sorting procedures. Examples of this can be various types of electronic components which require that the conductive carbon nanotubes are sorted from the semi-conductive (Hirsch and Vostrowsky, 2005). Other applications require the sorting of tubes based on their chiral angle.

Methods are available today that make it possible to sort carbon nanotubes by conductivity, but they are not yet available for mass production. A method that it is believed has great potential is based on DGU (Arnold et al., 2006). With this method, tubes of different chiral angles are sorted, and the method is based on the fact that tubes of various chiral angles have different densities. Another promising method for the separation of SWCNTs is based on the freezing of the sample, thawing, and compression of carbon nanotubes embedded in a gel of agarose (Tanaka et al., 2009a). Separation of SWCNTs can also be carried out using chromatographic methods (Tanaka et al., 2009b). Even the sorting of carbon nanotubes with respect to their chiral angle has been demonstrated (Tu et al., 2009).

4.5 Functionalization

Pure carbon nanotubes are very difficult to atomize in both water and other organic media. This has hampered the use of composite materials. Through functionalization, the tubes' properties may change and they can be made water-soluble (Hirsch and Vostrowsky, 2005). Even the mechanical and electrical properties of the tubes can be modified through functionalization.

Functionalization is often divided into three main types: covalent, exohedral noncovalent and endohedral non-covalent. Covalent functionalization is based on the functional units by binding to the tubes via covalent linkage, while non-covalent functionalization is based on other types of bonds such as van der Waals forces or π bindings. Non-covalent functionalization means that atoms or molecules may be linked to both the insides and outsides of the tubes. The advantage of non-covalent functionalization is that the stable structure of the tube is preserved. This type of functionalization has been proposed for non-destructive purification methods of the tubes and may be used to make the tubes easier to disperse in water.

As it is the surface of the nanotubes that mostly affects the biological interaction, the functionalization of the tubes probably has a major impact on the biological response produced by the exposure (Sayes et al., 2006). This is made use of, for instance, in medical applications such as diagnostic imaging or the administration of pharmaceutical preparations (Kostarelos et al., 2009). The interest in using carbon nanotubes for therapeutic purposes, for example, as carriers of pharmaceutical preparations or as a contrast medium for X-rays, has increased in recent years. Much of the research done on cells and animals is designed to do just that. This report does not take account of these applications to any great extent in the case of a special class of carbon nanotubes, which are often surface-modified and functionalized with molecules (pharmaceutical preparations) that do not have applications in other fields, such as surface coatings or composite materials. Section 8., entitled Toxicokinetics describes however, how certain types of these functionalized carbon nanotubes behave in the body after an intravenous injection

4.6 Challenges for toxicological studies

Carbon nanotubes can be produced using several different methods, which at first sight generate similar material. On closer examination, the materials however, vary considerably in terms of crystalline structure, morphology and the content of the residues from the production method (ENHRES, 2009) - properties that may underlie the tubes' toxicity. In order to interpret the observed biological effects, toxicological studies should include a detailed description of the physical and chemical properties that may be relevant to the biological response.

Another relevant issue in toxicological studies is whether the physical characteristics of the carbon nanotubes in the exposure study are the same as those we expect in an actual exposure situation. Examples of this are if the carbon nanotubes are inhaled as single tubes, and as bundles of tubes, or rolled into larger agglomerates. For example, agglomerates or aggregates often have a larger aerodynamic diameter than individual tubes and will therefore, to a greater extent, deposit in the upper respiratory airways, where other mechanisms remove or degrade the tubes compared with those in the alveoli. To suspend the carbon nanotubes to an airborne state in a controlled and reproducible way is a problem in toxicological inhalation studies. This means that other models of lung deposition are applied instead, such as intracheal instillation or aspiration. This is discussed further in later chapters.



The aggregation condition has not only an effect on where in the lung the carbon nanotubes are deposited but also on the biological response (Mercer et al., 2008; Shvedova et al., 2005). Only a few of the toxicological studies have been conducted as inhalation studies, and only a few methods for the suspension of carbon nanotubes into the air for this purpose have been developed. Two methods used in the suspension of carbon nanotubes into the air is to spray droplets of a solution of carbon nanotubes and to dry out the fluid so that only the tubes remain (Lee et al., 2010) or directly by suspending a powder (Maynard et al., 2004).

5. Inhalation and pulmonary deposition

We may be affected by the nanoparticles through several exposure routes such as inhalation, skin contact and ingestion. For workplace exposure to carbon nanotubes, inhalation is *the* exposure route that has been identified here as the most important. We are exposed daily to more or less high levels of ultrafine particles through the air we breathe. The fact that certain types of particles of this size can be harmful is not new, but has been shown in several studies of particle toxicity (Donaldson et al., 2005). Most people are aware of the harmful effects of exposure to asbestos (Donaldson et al., 2010).

The fiber-like structure of carbon nanotubes has meant that parallels have been drawn to asbestos fibres and their known toxicological effects. But it is still unclear how far this parallel is sustainable. The characteristics that, according to the fibre paradigm, are regarded as critical for asbestos fibres are i) that the dimensions and size of the fibres mean that they can follow air flows deep into the lungs when inhaled and are deposited in the alveolar region, ii) that they are sufficiently long and stiff so that macrophages fail to phagocytose (to be engulfed and digested), and iii) that they are biopersistent (Donaldson et al., 2006).

The principal mechanisms by which particles are deposited in the lungs are impaction, sedimentation, diffusion and interception. Fibres that have a diameter ≤ 100 nm often have an aerodynamic diameter ≤ 400 nm (Gross, 1981) and since fibre-like particles tend to align themselves parallel to an airflow, they can, despite their length, be transported far down into the lungs where they are finally deposited. The deposit is due to interception which increases with increasing fibre length (Lippmann, 1990). In the lower part of the lung, macrophages are responsible for the principal removal of deposited non-soluble particles. Macrophages are in the order of 10-20 μ m and have difficulty in removing fibres that are of and above this size (Donaldson et al., 2010).

6. Occurrence, manufacture and use

6.1 Occurrence

Carbon nanotubes occur in nature and are formed for example naturally when burning, and can also be found in soot. Since the discovery of carbon nanotubes, they are produced and mixed in plastics, rubber, composite materials to make them lighter or stronger (Lam et al., 2006). Nanocomposite materials that contain between 1-10% carbon nanotubes are used in the manufacture of automobiles and aircraft, wind power blades, and sports equipment such as tennis rackets, hockey and golf clubs, bicycles, cycling shoes, skis, darts and baseball bats (Hussain et al., 2006, Köhler et al., 2008, Sass et al., 2008, Thomas et al., 2009; KEMI, 2009). The market also produces mobile phones and laptops with lithium-ion batteries that contain carbon nanotubes (Köhler et al., 2008; IRAP, 2011). Carbon nanotubes are also found in antifouling paints for boats (Nanocyl, 2010). In the future, carbon nanotubes will be used in many more areas such as in textiles, building materials, electronics, energy and medical applications (Bhushan, 2004; Aitken et al., 2006; Schneider et al., 2007; Endo et al., 2008; Köhler et al., 2008; Kostarelos et al., 2009). Today, research and development is still being carried on in these areas. In terms of value, it has been predicted that electronics will be the most important carbon nanotube product group, while the use of composite materials in cars will account for the largest volumes (KEMI, 2009).

6.2 Manufacture

The global production of carbon nanotubes in 2006 was estimated at 300 tonnes of MWCNT and seven tons of SWCNT (WTEC, 2007). In 2007 there were about 35 producers of MWCNT in the world (KEMI, 2009). At present, there are at least 42 suppliers of carbon nanotubes according to an Internet site (www.nanotubesuppliers.com), which has been jointly established by manufacturers and sellers of carbon nanotubes. The global production capacity of carbon nanotubes today is over 2.5 tonnes/day (ENHRES, 2009) and approximately 710 tonnes of carbon nanotubes was expected to have been produced in 2010, representing about 17% of production capacity (IRAP, 2011). The actual production of carbon nanotubes is predicted to be more than 9,300 tons in 2015 (IRAP, 2011). Production capacity for both SWCNT and MWCNT is 2-3 times higher in Asia compared with Europe and the U.S. together, see Table 1. (WTEC, 2007; iRAP, 2011). Japan leads the world in production of MWCNT, but China and Korea will soon catch up (IRAP, 2011). In Japan, the use of MWCNT in lithium-ion battery electrodes has driven up production volumes (IRAP, 2011). North America seems to focus more on research and the production of SWCNT (WTEC, 2007). Table 2 shows which countries have companies that produce carbon nanotubes and their production capacity. In Scandinavia there is only one Norwegian company producing MWCNT (Schneider et al., 2007; KEMI, 2009). At least three companies in Sweden conduct research and development of carbon nanotubes in composite materials primarily for the aircaft industry (Schneider et al., 2007: personal communication with P Fernberg).

Carbon nanotubes are usually made with three different techniques, chemical vapour deposition (CVD), arch discharge and laser ablation.

Continent	Production capacity					
	SWCNT (kg/year)	MWCNT (tpa)				
Norh America	1457	74				
Europe	100	27				
Asia	5302	170				
Total capacity	6859	271				

Table 1. The global production capacity for SWCNT and MWCNT (WTEC, 2007).

Table 2. Manufacturers of carbon nanotubes and their production capacity (according to www.nanotube-suppliers.com and WTEC, 2007).

Continent	Country	No. of compa- nies	Type of carbon nanotubes produced		Production capacity	
			SWCNT	MWCNT	SWCNT (kg/year)	MWCNT (tpa)
Europe	Belgium	1	Yes	Yes		400
Europe	Cyprus	1	No	Yes		0,2ª
Europe	France	2	No	Yes		
Europe	Greece	1	Yes	Yes		1
Europé	United	1	Yes	Yes		
-	Kingdom					
Europe	Germany	2	Yes (1)	Yes (2)	~25 ^b	~5 b -200
Europe	Austria	1	Yes	Yes		5-10
North	USA	21	Yes (17)	Yes (16)	12-600c	10-50c
America						
North	Canada	4	Yes (4)	Yes (2)	720d	
America						
Asia	China	5	Yes (4)	Yes (5)	~25-500 ^b	~0,6-10 ^b
Asia	Korea	1	Yes	Yes	2,4	10
Asia	Japan	5	Yes (3)	Yes (2)	600-1500	30-100
Asia	India	1	Yes	Yes		
Asia	Taiwan	1	No	Yes		

^aProduction capacity to be increased soon to about 10 tons/year ^bThe production capacity has been recalculated as it was specified per day ^cFigures for production are incomplete as they were missing for some manufacturers ^dOnly one manufacturer has specified production capacity

6.2.1 Chemical vapour deposition

CVD is the most common and widely used manufacturing technique due to its low start-up cost, high yield, purity, and because it can easily be scaled-up. CVD is based on the thermal decomposition of gaseous hydrocarbon in the presence of a metal catalyst such as iron, cobalt, nickel or yttrium. Gases containing carbon such as carbon dioxide, methane, acetylene are led into an oven to be heated up. The heated gas reacts with the metal catalyst, which also acts as a "growth seeds". Ethylene, benzene or xylene can also be used in the manufacturing process. With CVD, both MWCNT and SWCNT are produced, but the quality is better with MWCNT. An industrial variant of CVD is HiPCO and is used to mass-produce carbon nanotubes. Commercially available raw materials of carbon nanotubes can contain large amounts of pollutants, up to 40%, and these consist of amorphous carbon, nano-structured graphite and carbon encapsulated metal particles from the catalyst (Köhler et al., 2008).

6.2.2 Arc discharge

The arc discharge technique was the technique used when carbon nanotubes were first discovered (Iijima, 1991). The technology is based on the application of a sufficiently high voltage field over two graphite rods - an anode and a cathode - for it to form a stable arc discharge between the rods. The carbon nanotubes grow on the cathode while the anode is consumed. The distance between cathode and anode is kept constant while the anode's position is adjusted. The entire process takes place in helium gas. In order to produce SWCNT, the electrodes are doped with a small amount of metal particles which act as a catalyst (Thostenson et al., 2001; Journet et al., 1997, Shi et al., 2000). The diameter of the nanotubes generated is determined by the metal catalyst (Shi et al., 2000; Popov 2004). The exact process varies with the size and shape of the graphite rods, doping etc. In general, this method generates carbon nanotubes of high quality and has the advantage that it is a relatively cheap method, but a major disadvantage is that the amount of impurities is high (Donald et al., 2006).

6.2.3 Laser ablation

Laser ablation is a technique that was introduced for the production of carbon nanotubes by Smalley and co-workers (Guo et al., 1995a). As with the arc discharge technique, laser ablation was used first only to generate MWCNT, but has since been refined through for example, the introduction of catalytic particles (cobalt and nickel compounds) and can now also be used for production of SWCNT (Guo et al., 1995b; Rinzler et al., 1998; Thostenson et al., 2001). In laser ablation a graphite target is kept at 1200 °C in a chamber. Laser pulses of high energy are used to vaporize the graphite target, and carbon nanotubes grow on a cooled object in the chamber as the vaporized carbon condenses. Everything is done in an atmosphere of an inert gas, usually argon, which slowly flows through the chamber. If the object consists of pure graphite, MWCNT is generated, and to produce SWCNT, the graphite is doped with cobalt or nickel (Thostenson et al., 2001, Dai et al., 2002). The diameter of the SWCNT is controlled by the reaction temperature.

6.3 Occurrence in the work environment

Occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes can in principle occur at all stages in its life cycle, see Figure 2. Today, occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes may occur during the production of raw materials for carbon nanotubes, research and development work at laboratories, the manufacture and processing of products

containing carbon nanotubes, and probably also in the recycling and disposal of these materials. Future areas of use for carbon nanotubes, for example in health care – when administering medication or diagnostic imaging, can also potentially provide occupational exposure to those who manufacture and administer this (Kostarelos et al., 2009; Aschberg et al., 2010).



Figur 2. Potential life-cycle for carbon nanotubes with defined steps in which occupational exposure may occur.

6.3.1 Occupational exposure in the manufacture of carbon nanotubes

In the manufacture of carbon nanotubes, typically closed production systems are usually employed. This means that no occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes is expected during the actual synthesization phase in commercial production, but exposure is likely in subsequent phases (Aschberg et al., 2010). During the development phase of carbon nanotubes, it is likely that the material is produced under strictly controlled conditions and is usually in very small volumes (Aschberg et al. 2010). The various operations required to produce carbon nanotubes are described in Figure 3. A number of production cycles can be made every day, up to 5 are described in the literature (Lee et al., 2010).

Preparation of the catalyst, i.e. weighing and placing this in the production system





Emissions of carbon nanotubes and therefore exposure to carbon nanotubes may occur when you open the cover to the closed production vessel (Lee et al., 2010). Exposure may also occur when handling the manufactured carbon nanotube powder through for example manual transfer from the production vessel (Figure 4), (Maynard et al., 2004; Aschberg et al., 2010). The production container should be enclosed in some form of clean-air enclosure when you conduct the manual transfer of the raw material (Maynard et al., 2004). Furthermore, handling such as weighing (Figure 5) and the packaging of raw materials may also lead to exposure to carbon nanotubes. The highest exposure is likely when handling dry, carbon nanotube materials in powdered form (Aschberg et al., 2010). Cleaning operations and maintenance of equipment and the workplace may also lead to exposure to carbon nanotubes (Helland et al. 2007, Köhler et al. 2008; Aschberg et al., 2010). Waste management, for example materials from the ventilation system may also lead to a potential exposure to carbon nanotubes (Köhler et al., 2008).



Figure 4. The manual transfer of carbon nanotubes from a production vessel (courtesy of PA Schulte, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health [NIOSH]).

6.3.2 Occupational exposure in laboratory work

Below is a description of typical work operations that nanotube raw materials undergo and that can cause occupational exposure. The raw materials must be purified and these purification processes include operations such as weighing, sonication with an ultrasonic bath and chemical treatments with acids. Even after-treatments such as mixing, shaking, drying, packaging, dispersion (the mixture of carbon nanotubes in liquid) and functionalization, which includes several stages of sonication, are carried out (Helland et al., 2007; ENRHES, 2009; Aschberg et al., 2010; Methner et al., 2010). It is common that carbon nanotubes are in suspension to be more easily administered in experimental models (Johnson et al., 2010). Other operations which take place in laboratories may for example include the production of a thin carbon nanotube film by spraying the dispersed carbon nanotubes on silica wafers, which are then heated for 10 minutes (Han et al., 2008, Lee et al., 2010). The spraying can be done in some form of protective enclosure from which carbon nanotubes may be emitted when the protective enclosure is opened (Lee et al., 2010).

There are studies that indicate that the laboratory personnel may be subjected to an increased risk of exposure to carbon nanotubes, especially to functionalized (Johnson et al., 2010).



Figure 5. Weighing MWCNT (courtesy of PA Schulte, NIOSH)

6.3.3 Occupational exposure during the machining of products containing carbon nanotubes

In the literature only the manufacture of lithium-ion batteries containing carbon nanotubes has been described as of yet (Köhler et al. 2008) and the machining of composite materials containing carbon nanotubes with a saw and a drill (Bello et al., 2009, 2010). In battery manufacturing, there is a potential risk of emissions of carbon nanotubes into the work environment during each stage of manufacturing (mechanical milling of carbon nanotubes, preparation of the electrode material, the assembly of electrodes, the unwinding of the electrodes) until the lithium-ion cell is sealed. Other potential sources of emissions of carbon nanotubes can be the waste from the production process or contaminated surfaces in the workplace (Köhler et al., 2008). Machining by sawing or drilling in composite laminates containing carbon nanotubes may also release carbon nanotubes. So far it has only been demonstrated that of aggregates of carbon nanotubes are emitted, thus providing airborne exposure (Bello et al., 2009, 2010).

7. Possibilities of measuring exposure in a work environment

7.1 Airborne Exposure

Traditional occupational hygiene measurements of particulates in the air are based on whether the particles are fibrous or non-fibrous. Fibrous particles are measured as the number per unit volume (fibre/cm³), for non-fibrous particles mass is determined per unit volume (mg/m³). For carbon nanotubes it is not known today which unit of measurement that best correlates to the toxicological effects when taking air measurements (Savolainen et al., 2010). Below is a description of the exposure measurements carried out in areas where carbon nanotubes were manufactured, processed and used. To determine occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes, total dust, respirable dust, respirable fibre concentration or the number of carbon nanotubes in the air was measured.

7.1.1 Determination of total dust

In order to sample carbon nanotubes, "open-face" filter cassettes with "mixed cellulose ester" (MCE) filters were used (Han et al., 2008, Lee et al., 2010) or "methyl cellulose ester" filters for metals (Maynard et al., 2004). Both stationary and personal sampling were performed for total dust. The concentration of carbon nanotubes in air was determined by gravimetric analysis. No detection limits (limit of detection, LOD) are reported. In one study the iron and nickel content was determined for the filters by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) as a surrogate for the carbon nanotubes mass (Maynard et al., 2004). LOD for iron and nickel were 0.064 μ g an 0.018 μ g respectively.

7.1.2 Determination of respirable dust

One study has also carried out personal sampling of both respirable dust and total dust, but the sampling methods are not specified (Takaya et al., 2010).

7.1.3 Determination of respirable fibre concentrations

Sampling of respirable fibre concentration was carried out by sucking air through a filter cassette (equipped with an electrically conductive 50 mm cowl) for asbestos with an MCE filter (Bello et al., 2008, 2009, 2010). In these studies, the analysis of the respirable fibre concentration was carried out (length > 5µm and the length-width ratio > 3:1) with a phase-contrast microscope in accordance with the NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods (NMAM) Method 7400 (LOD ~ 250 nm in diameter; Schulte et al., 2010), and also a determination of the respirable carbon nanotubes with a scanning electron microscope (SEM).

7.1.4 Determination of the number concentration of carbon nanotubes

Sampling of the number concentration of carbon nanotubes was carried out by sucking air through a filter cassette (equipped with an electrically conductive 50 mm cowl) for asbestos with an MCE filter (Han et al., 2008). The filters were analyzed by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) according to NIOSH NMAM method 7402 (Han et al., 2008). The LOD of the method was <0.01 fibre/cm³.

7.1.5 Characterization by aerosol instruments

Occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes has also been characterized by measuring other parameters than the mass or the number concentration of respirable fibres. Workplaces with the presence of carbon nanotubes (manufacturers, laboratories for research and development) have measured the number concentration, size distribution, surface area, morphology, size and chemical composition (Maynard et al., 2004, Bello et al., 2008, 2009, 2010; Yeganeh et al., 2008; Bello et al., 2009; Methner et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2010; Lee et al. 2010). The measurements were usually stationary, but in two studies samples were also collceted the air in the breathing zone (Bello et al., 2009, 2010). Table 3 presents a summary of the various direct-reading aerosol instruments that have been used to monitor carbon nanotubes in air at different workplaces.

7.2 Dermal exposure

So far, the potential dermal exposure to carbon nanotubes has been measured by using glove contamination as a surrogate for real skin contamination (Maynard et al., 2004). By placing a pair of cotton gloves over the protective gloves normally worn, the potential skin exposure could be measured. The cotton gloves were removed immediately after handling the carbon nanotubes and placed in a sealed plastic bag. The gloves were analyzed by ICP-MS, and iron and nickel were determined as a surrogate for the carbon nanotube mass. The detection limit for iron and nickel was $0.016 \,\mu g$ and $0.046 \,\mu g$ respectively.

7.3 Summary and discussion

Characteristic of carbon nanotube exposure is that the mass is small, but the number concentration of nanoparticles is very high. The majority of the exposure measurements at various workplaces where carbon nanotubes are produced or used have been traditional dust measurements. When conducting dust measurements, there is a degree of uncertainty with regard to the results because you can also sample other particles (lack of specificity). Even when sampling respirable fibres, there is a lack of specificity as all types of fibres are sampled. The error can however be estimated through the characterization of fibres with TEM/SEM/STEM. In two studies, in which exposure measurements were carried out in the machining of composite materials containing carbon nanotubes, the respirable fibre concentration was determined using a method (NIOSH NMAM 7400) that can only analyze respirable fibres that are of the micron-size (Bello et al., 2009, 2010). Therefore, no individual carbon nanotube or agglomerated carbon nanotube can be determined. You need to agree on the measurement method to be used to measure occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes in order to achieve reliable exposure data. So far, different methods have been used, which have resulted in exposure data with different units, which complicates comparisons. Exposure data based on the respirable fibre concentration or the number concentration of carbon nanotubes has been determined by

TEM/SEM/STEM analysis, such as the NIOSH NMAM method 7402, which is regarded as most relevant to carbon nanotubes, because you can identify the nanotubes and in this way ensure specificity.

Today, NIOSH is working to validate whether the NIOSH NMAM method 5040 for diesel particulate matter (analysis of elemental carbon) can also be used to determine the mass of carbon nanotubes, as they are composed mainly of carbon (Methner et al., 2010a, 2010b). The sampling of carbon nanotubes could then be done with "open-face" filter cassettes with a quartz filter (to determine the total dust) to be subsequently analyzed by thermal-optical analysis with a flame ionization detector (FID). Simultaneous sampling of "open-face" filter cassettes with an MCE filter (determination of total dust) for TEM analysis (NIOSH NMAM 7402) would still be needed to ensure specificity (Methner et al., 2010a).

Parameter	Technique	Measuring	Detection limits	References
		range		
Number-	Fast Mobility	5,6-560 nm	Lower: ~100	Bello et al., 2008, 2009, 2010
concentration	Particle Sizer		prticles/cm ³ vid 10	
	(FMPS)		nm for ~ 10	
			particles/cm ³ at 100	
			nm	
			Upper: ~ 1000000	
	a .	14 (20)	particles/cm ³	
	Scanning	14-630 nm		Han et al., 2008; Yeganeh et
	MODILITY			al., 2008; Methner et al., 2010
	(SMDS)			
	(Sivil S) Aerodynamic	0.5-20 um	Upper: 10000	Bello et al. 2008 2009 2010
	particel Counter	0,5 20 µm	particles/cm ³	Han et al., 2008
	(APS)		pur diene di enti	11un et un, 2000
	Condensation	10-1000	1-100000	Maynard et al., 2004; Bello et
	particle counter	nm	particles/cm ³	al., 2008, 2009; Methner et
	(CPC)	14 5 00 mm		al., 2010 ; Jonnson et al., 2010 ; Lease t al., 2010
	Liltrofino	14-500 nm	0 100000	2010; Lee et al., 2010
	condensation	>5 1111	particles/cm ³	Lee et al., 2010
	particle counter		particles/em	
	(UCPC)			
	Electrical low-			Methner et al., 2010
	pressure			
	impactor			
	(ELPI)			
	Optical particle	300-10000	Upper: 70000	Maynard et al., 2004;
	counter (OPC)	nm	particles/cm ³	Methner et al., 2010; Johnson
Size	SMDS and	4 672 mm		et al., 2010
distribution	differential	4-073 IIII 14 673 nm		Han et al. 2008: Methner et
distribution	mobility	5-500 nm		a) 2010 : Lee et al 2010
	analyser	5 500 mm		al., 2010, Lee et al. 2010
	(DMA)			
	FMPS and			Bello et al., 2008, 2009, 2010
	APS			
	UCPC	14-630 nm		Han et al., 2008

Table 3. Summary of the techniques used to characterize airborne carbon nanotube exposure in the workplace

	Aersolspectro- meter (Dust monitor)	0,25-32 μm		Lee et al., 2010
Surface area	APS	0,5-20 µm		Han et al., 2008
Mass- concentration	OPC	300-10000 nm		Maynard et al., 2004
	Aerosol- photometer (Dust Trak)	<2.5 µm	Upper: 100 mg/m ³	Yeganeh et al., 2008; Bello et al., 2009
	Aethalometer (measures carbon black)			Han et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2010

Parameter	Technique	Measuring range	Detection limits	References
Morphology and size	Thermophoretic precipitator (TP) Electric precipitator (ESP) Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) Scanning electron microscopy	1->100 nm 1->100 nm	Lower: 1 nm	Bello et al., 2008, 2009, 2010; Methner et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2010 Bello et al., 2008, 2009, 2010; Methner et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2010 Bello et al., 2008, 2009, 2010; Methner et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2010 Maynard et al., 2004, Bello et al., 2008, 2009, 2010
Chemical	Scanning Transmission electron microscope (STEM) Phtotelectric		Upper: 1000 ng/m ³	Han et al., 2008 Yeganeh et al., 2008
composition	aerosol sensor (PAS) Energy- dispersive X- ray (EDX)			Han et al., 2008; Bello et al., 2009

8. Occupational exposure data

As of today, there is limited occupational exposure data available for airborne carbon nanotubes, see Table 4. In a few studies, air measurements have been conducted during specific work tasks, such as the growth of carbon nanotubes by CVD techniques or the removal of raw materials from a production vessel, therefore the sampling time is short (0.5 to 1.5 h; Maynard et al. 2004; Bello et al., 2008). Air sampling of total dust from carbon nanotubes has so far been made at seven production units, two packaging units and eight laboratories. Air sampling of respirable dust has been conducted at two packaging units. Respirable fibre concentration has been measured at four laboratories.

8.1 Mass concentration

8.1.1 SWCNT

Only one study has investigated occupational exposure to SWCNT (Maynard et al., 2004). At four U.S. companies that manufactured SWCNT, personal sampling of total dust was conducted. Production vessels were placed in a clean-air enclosure and personal sampling were made for a period of 30 minutes as the worker emptied the production vessel. Concentrations of SWCNT were measured at between 0.7 and 53 μ g/m³. The highest peak value from the measurements with direct reading instruments (OPC) was estimated at approximately 1,600 μ g/m³ and was measured when cleaning with a vacuum cleaner inside the clean-air enclosure (only the tube was inserted into the clean-air enclosure).

8.1.2 MWCNT

Most exposure measurements have been made to date in the workplace where MWCNT are produced and handled. Several measurements showed total dust concentrations of around 100 μ g/m³ or less (Table 4). The first exposure measurements were made at three research laboratories (Han et al., 2008). The measurements were taken before and after the installation of technical safety and protection devices. Before installation, personal exposure ranged from undetectable (ND - Not Detected) to 332 μ g/m³. After installing the fans and encapsulation, personal exposure was measured at between ND and 31 μ g/m³. Stationary sampling was also carried out with the sampler placed 3-4 m from the workstation. The stationary air concentration was ND-435 μ g/m³ before, and ND-39 μ g/m³ after the installation of the technical safety and protection equipment.

Another study conducted exposure measurements at 7 workplaces that manufactured or handled MWCNT (Lee et al., 2010). The measured average concentration of total dust was determined as $106 \ \mu g/m^3$ and $81 \ \mu g/m^3$ for personal and stationary samples performed. The emission of nanoparticles and fine particles occurred mainly at the opening of the cover to the growth chamber. Other work processes that could produce particle emissions include preparing the catalyst, spraying, the preparation of carbon nanotubes, dispersion with ultrasound, heating, and opening the cover to the water bath. Personal sampling of the MWCNT was carried out on workers in two packaging units, of which one was manual and the other one was automated (Takaya et al., 2010). The measured background concentration of total dust was almost the same (240

 $\mu g/m^3$) in the two units. Those who worked with manual packaging of carbon nanotubes were exposed to air concentrations of 2,390 $\mu g/m^3$ (total dust) and 390 $\mu g/m^3$ (respirable dust). At the automated packaging process, concentrations of 290 $\mu g/m^3$ (total dust) and 80 $\mu g/m^3$ (respirable dust) were measured.

From the exposure data in Table 4, it is possible to assess the personal exposure to a specific operation or exposure situation, see Table 5. Operations with the highest exposure included manual packing and mixing in an open container. Machining with a bandsaw also produced a high exposure, but probably the majority of the measured particles are comprised of other components in the composite material, such as epoxy, carbon fibre and aluminium.

8.2 Respirable fibre concentration

The respirable fibre concentration was determined through the machining of composite materials containing carbon nanotubes to 1.6 fibre/cm³ when sawing and 0.7 to 1.0 fibre/cm³ when drilling (Bello et al., 2009, 2010).

8.3 Number of carbon nanotubes

In a research laboratory personal sampling of respirable fibre content were conducted for the manufacture of carbon nanotubes (CVD technology) and during the subsequent handling of carbon nanotube materials, but no individual fibres or bundles of nanosize fibers could be detected in the analysis (Bello et al., 2008). In a previously described study that measured the personal exposure before, and after, the installation of technical safety and protection equipment, levels were measured at 194 fibre/cm³ (before) and 0.02 fibre/cm³ (after, Han et al., 2008). For mechanical processing by sawing or drilling in composites containing carbon nanotubes, no individual, or bundles of carbon nanotubes could be determined (Bello et al., 2009, 2010).

Table 4. Exposure data from workplaces where they manufactured and handled carbon nanotubes and in the machining of composite materials containing carbon nanotubes

Workplace Operation		Type of carbon	Sampling	; No. Of samples	Sampling time (h)	Dust fraction	Air content		Sampling method	Reference
		nanotubes		Ĩ			Mass konc., μg/m ³ median (range)	Number CNT, #/cm ³ median (range)	-	
4 manufacturing units	Empty of carbon nanotubes from production containers	SWCNT	Personal	4	0,5	Total	23 (0,7-53)	N/A	Open-face filter- kassett ^a with methyl cellulose ester filter (25 mm)	Maynard et al., 2004
1 research laboratory	Manufacturing	Carbon nanotubes	Personal	1	1,5		N/A	ND	Filter cassette for asbestos with MCE- filter (25 mm) ^{b,c}	Bello et al., 2008
1 research unit	Manufacturing,	MWCNT	Personal	8	4-6	Total	ND (ND-332)	0,005 (ND-194)	Filter cassette with	Han et al.,
(with 3 laboratories)	grinding, weighing, spraving		Stationary	10			37 (ND-435)	ND (ND-173)	MCE- filter (35 mm) ^c	2008
1 research laboratory	Mechanical processing of carbon nanotube composites (sawing)	carbon nanotubes	Stationary	4			N/A	ND	Filter cassette for asbest with MCE- filter (25 mm) ^{b,c}	Bello et al., 2009
3 manufacturing units	Manufacturing, handling	MWCNT	Personal Stationary		3-6,8	Total	106 (7,8-321)	N/A	Open-face filter cassette with MCE-	Lee et al., 2010
4 forsknings- laboratorium			, and the second s				81 (12,6-187) medel		filter (37 mm) ^b	
2 packaging units	Packaging	MWCNT	Personal	2 2		Total Respirabel	1340 (290-2390) 235 (80-390) average	N/A	Sampler PM _{4,0}	Takaya M et al., 2010

N/A: Not available, sample not taken; ND: Not detectable;

^aMade of conductive material

^bMCE- mixed cellulose ester

^cElectrically conductive 50 mm cowl
Table	5. Specific	operations and	personal exposure	levels to carbon	nanotubes (max.	levels are presented)
	1	1	1 1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1 /

Exposure Situation/Operat	ion	Personal exposure to total dust (µg/m ³)	References		
Emptying the production	HiPCO manufacturing	53	Maynard et al., 2004		
vessel	Laser ablation production	9,9			
Manufacturing	Before the installation of safety and protection devices	ND^{a}	Han et al., 2008		
Milling	Before the installation of safety and protection devices	ND			
Spraying with carbon	Before the installation of safety and protection devices	193			
nanotube-containing					
solution					
	After the installation of safety and protection devices	31			
Blending	Open blender (before the installation of safety and protective	332			
-	devices)				
	Encapsulated blender (after the installation of safety and	ND			
	protective devices)				
Manual packaging		2390	Takaya et al., 2010		
Automated packaging		290	-		
Machining (band saw)		2400	Bello et al., 2009		
93 775 3 7 4 4 4					

 $^{a}ND = Not detectable$

8.4 Characterization

8.4.1 Number concentration and size distribution

8.4.1.1 Manufacturing units

When opening the cover to the growth chamber following the manufacturing of carbon nanotubes, concentrations of particulate matter were measured at 11,039 particles/cm³ (geometric mean). The particles had a diameter of about 20 and 50 nm (Lee et al., 2010). Another study showed the significance of ventilation on opening the growth chamber, which measured 300 particles/cm³ with ventilation and 42,400 particles/cm³ without ventilation (Methner et al., 2010). Even when cleaning inside the clean-air enclosures used for the emptying of the production vessel, high particle concentrations were measured, max. ~760,000 particles/cm³ (Maynard et al., 2004). There is also a study that could not detect any elevated levels of nanoparticles either in the manufacture of carbon nanotubes or their handling (Bello et al., 2008).

8.4.1.2 Research laboratories

When mixing carbon nanotube materials, concentrations of > 12,000 particles/cm³ with a size range between 14-630 nm (Han et al., 2008). The handling of carbon nanotubes and fullerenes in a commercial laboratory resulted in a short-term elevated number concentration (Yeganeh et al., 2008). Weighing and functionalization of carbon nanotubes and sonication of water which contained carbon nanotubes also led to an increased number of particles in the air, up to 2,776 particles/cm³ (Johnson et al., 2010). Weighing carbon nanotubes without ventilation, and the sonication of raw carbon nanotube materials resulted in number concentrations up to 1,580 and 2,800 particles/cm³ (Methner et al., 2010). For the machining of carbon nanotube composite materials the highest concentrations of particulates was measured (Bello et al., 2009, 2010). The number of measured particles stationary (10 cm from the source) and in the breathing zone when sawing was done, were 294,000 and 153,000 particles/cm³. For stationary sampling near the source (10 cm from the source) when drilling with high and low speed in carbon nanotube composites, 11 million and 3.9 million particles/cm³ (max) were measured. The corresponding particle concentrations in the breathing zone were 1.3 million (high speed) and 2.9 million (low speed) particles/cm³. Size distributions were polydispersive when sawing with maximum at 12, 20, 230 \pm 20 nm and 1 \pm 0.1 μ m (Bello et al. 2009).

8.4.2 Particle morphology

The analysis of filter samples collected in the manufacturing of SWCNT indicated that the particles appeared to have a compact structure (Maynard et al., 2004). On the analysis of MWCNT a varied form was found, i.e. they occur both as single carbon nanotubes, multiple structures (agglomerated) and as clumps (Han et al., 2008). A maximum fibre length of 1.5 μ m was also observed in this study. Filter samples from a manufacturing facility showed a lack of carbon nanotubes (Bello et al., 2008). Also filter samples from a laboratory where the raw materials of MWCNT were weighed and sonicated lacked typical carbon nanotubes structures (Johnson et al., 2010). When composite materials containing carbon nanotubes where machined, neither individual carbon nanotubes (when sawn), bundles of these, or carbon nanotubes that were attached to larger particles were found (Bello et al., 2009). When drilling in the same material it was found, however, that clusters of carbon nanotube aggregates were emitted (Bello et al., 2010). The size of these aggregates was in the respirable size range (a few microns).

8.5 Dermal exposure

In the manufacture and handling of carbon nanotubes, carbon nanotubes may be deposited on the skin if you do not have protective clothing (Lam et al., 2006). There is no literature on skin absorption of carbon nanotubes (Crosera et al., 2006). To date, one study examined the potential dermal exposure to carbon nanotubes by analyzing protective gloves (Maynard et al., 2004). Carbon nanotube deposits were determined to be 0.2 to 6 mg/hand. In most cases, contamination could be seen on the gloves at the end of the sampling period, see Figure 6. Most of the contamination of carbon nanotubes was on the inside of the hand, on the palm and fingers. Based on this study, the maximum skin exposure would be 12 mg/person (both hands) if you did not use gloves. By using gloves, dermal uptake via the hands may be reduced by 90% (ENHRES, 2009; Aschberg et al., 2010). The maximum daily skin exposure was judged to be 14.3 µg/cm³ and day (ENRHES, 2009) and 1.2 mg/person (Aschberg et al., 2010). Carbon nanotubes produced with the HiPCO technology caused higher levels of contamination on the gloves (Maynard et al., 2004). Unprotected skin areas could also be exposed due to larger clumps of carbon nanotubes may become airborne and stay in the air for long periods (Maynard et al., 2004). These clumps can be deposited on surfaces, skin and protective clothing. Dermal exposure can be minimized by using protective gloves in combination with other personal protective equipment such as protective clothing and respiratory protective equipment.



Figure 6. Protective gloves contaminated with very fine carbon nanotube dust (courtesy of A Maynard, NIOSH, Baron et al., 2003)

8.6 Summary and discussion

A limited number of exposure measurements have been made to date in the workplace where carbon nanotubes are produced and used. Both stationary and personal sampling in the breathing zone have been made. The level of exposure depends primarily on work operations and on how effective the occupational safety and protective equipment is. The highest levels of occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes have been measured while handling dry carbon nanotube materials. It is important to note that occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes was higher at some workplaces in the absence of safety and protection devices where they also had poorer industrial hygiene. In order to conduct risk assessments for carbon nanotubes, exposure data based on personal sampling where the concentration in the breathing zone is determined is needed, partly throughout the working day (8 h) and partly on more working operations/exposure situations. Measurement data suggests that the production of carbon nanotubes with HiPCO gives higher concentrations in the air and higher levels of contamination on gloves (Maynard et al. 2004). This may be due to HiPCO-manufactured carbon nanotube materials being more porous and having a lower density compared to other techniques described as providing more compact carbon nanotubes. Two studies also showed the importance of installing and using safety and protection devices to reduce exposure when handling and packing carbon nanotubes (Han et al., 2008; Takaya et al., 2010). Safety and protection devices can reduce exposure by 90% (Han et al., 2008).

According to WHO, the minimum length of a fibre is defined as 5 μ m (WHO 1997). One study measured the maximum fibre length at 1.5 μ m, which cannot be regarded as fibre according to WHO. For the machining of carbon nanotube composites rather high respirable fibre concentrations were measured compared to the occupational exposure limit for asbestos (0.1 fibre/cm³). What was measured in these two studies are different types of respirable fibrous structures from composite materials. These fibres may consist for instance of carbon nanotube structures could be detected, which may be because they were encapsulated in epoxy plastic. Perhaps it is that carbon nanotubes, which are mixed into various materials are not emitted as individual carbon nanotubes but either form large aggregates or are embedded in larger particles and fibres. However, Bello et al. (2010) has demonstrated that there is a potential for carbon nanotubes being released during drilling.

9. Toxicokinetics

9.1 Absorption and distribution

There are three major paths by which carbon nanotubes could get into the body: through inhalation, absorption through the skin and absorption through the gastrointestinal tract. In addition to this, nanoparticles may be injected into the bloodstream in future medical applications. In experimental studies of how carbon nanotubes behave in the body, carbon nanotubes have been given to laboratory animals through inhalation, instillation in the trachea (carbon nanotubes in a small volume of liquid), intravenous injection or intraperitoneal injection.

Water-soluble carbon nanotubes injected into the abdomen enter into the bloodstream and reach individual organs and the same applies to intravenously injected carbon nanotubes (Deng et al., 2007, Singh et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2008, Guo et al., 2007).

After tube feeding laboratory animals with carbon nanotubes, it was in one case no demonstrated absorption from the gastrointestinal tract into the blood (Deng et al., 2007; Kolosnjaj-Tabi et al., 2010). Two other studies show, however, actual absorption or systemic effects that indicate absorption from the gastrointestinal tract. One study found that SWCNT after tube feeding was absorbed in the intestinal cells and that they also were found in several internal organs, including the brain (Yang et al., 2010). In this study, very short carbon nanotubes with a length of 50-300 nm were used. The relevance of carbon nanotubes at this length for industrial applications is unclear. Genotoxic (DNA-damaging) effects on cells in rats' livers were seen after tube feeding them carbon nanotubes, suggesting that the

nanotubes in this study may have been passed from the intestines to the blood (Folkmann et al., 2009).

The injection of MWCNT into the bloodstream of experimental animals leads to the nanotubes quickly spreading to major organs such as the liver, spleen and kidneys. (Georgina et al., 2009, Yang et al., 2007, Keren et al., 2008, Kang et al., 2009, McDevitt et al., 2007; Cherukuri et al., 2006). Radioactively labelled SWCNT carrying hydroxyl groups (-OH groups) on their surface were taken up in in a manner similar to carbon nanotubes without functionalization in the liver and kidneys, but were accumulated in the stomach and the intestines (Wang et al., 2008). In some cases carbon nanotubes were also discovered in the urine and faeces (Georgina et al., 2009), as well as in bone tissue (McDevitt et al., 2007). Similar distribution patterns were observed after injection of carbon nanotubes into the abdominal cavity (Guo et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008, McDevitt et al., 2007). Other surface modifications of carbon nanotubes lead to a different distribution. Polyethylene glycol (PEG) leads, for example, to SWCNTs remaining in some organs for up to 90 days (Yang et al., 2008a, Liu et al., 2008), while other molecular modifications lead to rapid excretion within a few hours (Singh et al., 2006).

Inhaled carbon nanotubes remain either in the lungs for a long time or are transported out through the airways via macrophages and mucociliary elevator. As mentioned earlier, it has not been shown that carbon nanotubes are transferred from the respiratory passages and out into the blood (Deng et al., 2007). However, in some cases it has been observed that MWCNT has crossed over to the pleura and adjacent lung tissue and has been transported with macrophages to the local lymph nodes (Mercer et al. 2010Porter et al., 2010; Ryman-Rasmussen et al., 2009a; Elgrabli et al., 2008).

The information on how carbon nanotubes behave after they have entered the digestive tract is limited. When mice are tube-fed with SWCNT of different lengths, particles were observed only in the stomach, small intestine, large intestine and faeces, and no adverse effects were observed (Deng et al., 2007). In contrast, in another study it was found that SWCNT given to mice via tube feeding, were taken up by the intestinal cells and were found in cells of internal organs, including the brain (Yang et al., 2010). Oxidative DNA damage was detected in the liver and the lungs of rats that were tube fed with carbon nanotubes, which further indicates that the passage of carbon nanotubes from the gastrointestinal tract into the circulation is possible (Folkmann et al., 2009).

The skin is the body's primary protection against foreign substances and has different levels of permeability for different substances depending on their physical and chemical properties. It has so far not been demonstrated that carbon nanotubes pass from the skin into the blood. MWCNTs, when injected under the skin (subcutaneously) however, were taken up in the blood and were found in the heart, liver, spleen, lungs, kidney and subcutaneous tissue (Jia et al., 2009).

9.2 Biotransformation

Carbon nanotubes are usually described as resistant to biological modifications which has been observed when laboratory animals were exposed (Deng et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2008b). However, physically and chemically modified MWCNT have been observed in the lungs of laboratory animals and carbon nanotubes in the blood bound to plasma proteins (Elgrabli et al., 2008; Cherukuri et al., 2006).

In *in vitro* systems, it has been seen that carbon nanotubes can bind to complement factors from plasma and serum which could explain some of the biological effects of carbon nanotubes (Hamad et al., 2008, Salvador-Morales et al., 2006). In addition, it has been found that functionalized carbon nanotubes can be defunctionalized in the liver (Yang et al., 2009) and that enzymatic degradation of carbon nanotubes that have been functionalized with antibodies can take place in white blood cells (neutrophils granulocytes) (Kagan et al., 2010). Similar enzymatic degradation has been observed by carbon nanotubes in cell-free systems with peroxidases as the active enzyme (Allen et al., 2008).

9.3 Excretion and elimination

Carbon nanotubes can be eliminated from the airways by being taken up by macrophages and are expelled through ciliary movements of the mucociliary elevator. Approximately 16% of instilled MWCNT was left in the lungs of rats after 6 months according to one study (Elgrabli et al., 2008). Another study found that 81% of instilled MWCNT was left after 60 days (Muller et al., 2005). If an organism is exposed to carbon nanotubes through diet, the nanotubes are likely to pass through the digestive tract and be excreted with the faeces (Deng et al., 2007). Studies have shown that certain types of carbon nanotubes can be eliminated by the kidneys or faeces (Georgina et al., 2009, Lacerda et al. 2008b; McDevitt et al., 2007; Kolosnjaj-Tabi et al., 2010). Size and surface chemistry affect the rate at which carbon nanotubes are excreted, and the half-life period in blood varies widely among different kinds of carbon nanotubes, see Table 6 (Lacerda et al., 2008a; Wang et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2008a; Liu et al., 2008; Guo et al., 2007; Kang et al., 2009; Singh et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2007; Cherukuri et al., 2008).

Table 6. Half lives of carbon nanotubes in the blood (i.v. = intravenous, i.p. = intraperitoneal, PEG = polyethylene glycol, DTPA = diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid).

Functionalization	Half-life	Administration	Species	Reference
-	3 h	i.v.	Mouse	Lacerda et al. 2008a
glucosamin	5.5 h	i.p.	Mouse	Guo et al. 2007
Hydroxyl	50 min	i.v.	Mouse	Wang et al. 2008
Pluronics F108	1 h	i.v.	Rabbit	Cherukuri et al. 2006
DTPA	3-3.5 h	i.v.	Mouse	Singh et al. 2006
chitosan	3-4 h	i.v.	Mouse	Kang et al. 2009
PEG	15 h	i.v.	Mouse	Liu et al. 2008
PEG	15.4 h	i.v.	Mouse	Yang et al. 2008
	Functionalization glucosamin Hydroxyl Pluronics F108 DTPA chitosan PEG PEG PEG	Functionalization Half-life - 3 h glucosamin 5.5 h Hydroxyl 50 min Pluronics F108 1 h DTPA 3-3.5 h chitosan 3-4 h PEG 15 h	Functionalization Half-life Administration - 3 h i.v. glucosamin 5.5 h i.p. Hydroxyl 50 min i.v. Pluronics F108 1 h i.v. DTPA 3-3.5 h i.v. chitosan 3-4 h i.v. PEG 15 h i.v. PEG 15.4 h i.v.	FunctionalizationHalf-lifeAdministrationSpecies-3 hi.v.Mouseglucosamin5.5 hi.p.MouseHydroxyl50 mini.v.MousePluronics F1081 hi.v.RabbitDTPA3-3.5 hi.v.Mousechitosan3-4 hi.v.MousePEG15 hi.v.MousePEG15.4 hi.v.Mouse

10. Toxic mechanisms

There are various theories as to why and how carbon nanotubes cause toxic effects, see details below. A common interpretation is that carbon nanotubes, due to certain physical and chemical properties, can cause oxidative stress. Oxidative stress means that the cells are subjected to stress from free radicals, specifically reactive oxygen radicals. In addition, carbon nanotubes can cause frustrated phagocytosis in macrophages and genotoxic effects. The different mechanisms are to some extent dependent on each other as frustrated phagocytosis may lead to inflammation which in turn can lead to oxidative stress. For those who wish further information on the mechanisms underlying the toxicity of carbon nanotubes in cell and animal testing, a recent paper by Johnston et al. (2010) is recommended reading.

10.1 Oxidative stress

The cause of the oxidative stress caused by carbon nanotubes is still being debated. Many studies however, assign the toxicity to the pollution that comes with carbon nanotubes following the manufacturing process (Shvedova et al., 2003). The toxic effects of oxidative stress could therefore be due to impurities and not the nanotubes themselves.

10.1.1 Oxidative stress can lead to DNA and protein damage

Reactive oxygen radicals can cause DNA damage in the form of mutations that have implications for cell division. DNA damage of this type has for example been observed in macrophages treated with carbon nanotubes (Migliore et al., 2010). Oxidative DNA damage has been found in the liver and the lungs of rats tube fed with carbon nanotubes (Folkmann et al., 2009). Similar observations were made in cardiac muscle cells after carbon nanotubes were instilled (sprayed) into the lungs of mice (Li et al., 2007b). The application of carbon nanotubes on the skin of mice resulted in oxidative stress and the subsequent modification of proteins in skin cells (Murray et al., 2009). It was found that carbon nanotubes can cause genotoxic effects of faulty chromosomes and so-called micronuclei by acting directly on DNA during cell division (Sargent et al 2009).

10.2 Frustrated phagocytosis

Macrophages are a type of white blood cells in our innate immune system whose job it is to eat up (phagocytose), envelop and destroy foreign objects in the body. It could be bacteria or small non-biological particles such as carbon nanotubes for example. If nanotubes are too long and rigid, macrophages cannot absorb them and destroy them andare constantly trying to break them down instead. This phenomenon is called "frustrated phagocytosis" (Brown et al., 2007). In the end, it can lead to the macrophage undergoing apoptosis, i.e.programmed cell death.

10.2.1 Frustrated phagocytosis can lead to inflammation and oxidative stress

Frustrated phagocytosis can result in an increased production of inflammatory proteins in macrophages. These inflammatory proteins, in turn, make other white blood cells become attracted to the tissue which can produce substances that lead to oxidative stress (Johnston et al. 2010) If inflammation occurs, there is a risk that granulomas will form, which is a prolonged accumulation of phagocytic inflammatory cells. Some results suggest that longer and thicker carbon nanotubes could cause greater effects than shorter and narrower tubes

with respect to, among other things, DNA damage and granuloma formation, both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Poland et al., 2008, Yamashita et al., 2010).

11. Effects on cells and animal experiments

In many cases it is difficult to compare the results from different studies. There is, for example, no consensus on how to report the dose of carbon nanotubes. Some argue that the conventional amount measured in milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg) body weight is not sufficiently informative, but that the surface area of nanotubes must be taken into account as well as an indication of the surface that is dosed. Another aspect is that it the physical and chemical properties of the carbon nanotubes used are not always fully described. Diameter, length, surface area/unit weight and degree of purity are characteristics that could determine whether a particular type of carbon nanotube is toxic or not. How the laboratory animals are exposed to carbon nanotubes is also important. Experimental respiratory exposure may therefore produce different results. Instillation means a small drop containing carbon nanotubes is placed into the trachea of the animals and after that the carbon nanotubes start to spread. On inhalation, an aerosol is produced of the carbon nanotubes which the animals may inhale. Either the whole animal is exposed, or the head or just the nose. These different methods have different advantages and disadvantages. The deposition pattern, i.e. how the carbon nanotubes spread out throughout the respiratory passages, differs between the methods and can therefore produce different results (Li et al., 2007a). Such effects may be reflected in the subsequent toxicity evaluation in the study. In the following paragraphs, a selection of the most relevant animal and cellular studies are presented and summarized; they were found in systematic literature searches in scientific, medical and toxicological databases. The relevance assessment includes, among other things, that the purpose of the study was to investigate toxicity, that the control experiments carried out were sufficient, that the particles have been sufficiently characterized, and that the published studies were examined according to the peer-review model.

11.1 Mortality

The dose of carbon nanotubes that can be described as lethal is unknown because no studies have attempted to determine the minimum lethal dose. For mice it has been found that an instilled dose of 0.5 mg of SWCNT in the respiratory passages caused the deaths of 5 out of 9 animals (Lam et al., 2004). A single oral dose of 1,000 mg of carbon nanotubes/kg body weight did not cause death in any of the mice treated, therefore, the lethal dose is above this value according to the writers of the article (Kolosnjaj-Tabi et al., 2010).

11.2 Cardiovascular effects

Animal experiments have shown that carbon nanotubes may affect the heart and blood vessels after they have been dosed via the respiratory passages. The effects include increased expression of stress-related genes and the genes involved in the recruitment of immune cells as well as an increase in markers for oxidative stress. The latter increased in both the lungs, aorta and cardiac tissue (Erdely et al., 2009, Li et al., 2007b). Other effects are a negative impact on the regulation of blood pressure in the arteries and reduced blood flow to the coronary arteries and the degeneration of the heart tissue (Legramante et al., 2009, Tong et al., 2009). The effects on the cardio-vascular system were most likely not due to the nanotubes being transferred from the respiratory passages, but on the indirect effects for which the exact mechanism is unknown. However, it has been suggested that an increased

production of cytokines induced by carbon nanotubes can be a reason for the onset of systemic effects. (Erdely et al. 2009).

11.3 Effects on the liver and the spleen

If the carbon nanotubes come into the blood, they will reach the liver and spleen. The toxic effects of clean non-functionalized MWCNT on the liver include increased levels of inflammatory cells, increases in injury markers and the death of liver tissue (Ji et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2010). The effects were dependent on concentration, which means that low doses were not toxic. For the liver, adverse effects (inflammation and fibrosis of the liver) were observed in mice after administration of 250 mg/kg MWCNT in the abdominal cavity. However, the dose, 250 mg/kg, is relatively high compared with other studies. MWCNT that has been functionalized with PEG had much less significant effects, suggesting that the toxicity depends on what the surface of the carbon nanotubes look like (Zhang et al., 2010). Following oral exposure, oxidative DNA damage was found in the rats' livers (Folkmann et al., 2009). The spleen is one of the organs where injected carbon nanotubes were taken up the most, but the toxic effects previously seen in animal studies are limited, with a transient increase in spleen weight (Deng et al., 2009, Schipper et al., 2008).

11.4 Effects on the airways

The effect of carbon nanotubes on the airways in laboratory animals has been studied through the instillation and inhalation of carbon nanotubes. After inhalation of MWCNT, increases in inflammatory cells have been observed as well as increased levels of injury markers (Ellinger-Ziegelbauer and Pauluhn, 2009). In another inhalation study it was seen that MWCNT could pass through the lung to its outer casing, the pleura, when treating mice with 30 mg/m^3 for a six-hour exposure. At the same time, pleural fibrosis was observed, which means that the connective tissue in the outer portion of the lung becomes covered with a thick layer of non-expansible fibrous tissue and increases in size (Ryman-Rasmussen et al., 2009a). Similar observations have been made after MWCNTs were instilled in the airways of mice. Carbon nanotubes were also found in the pleura. The penetration of the lung barriers was dependent on dose, and increased after treating the animals with 10 to 80 µg carbon nanotubes per animal. (Mercer et al., 2010). Fibrosis and carbon nanotubes that had translocated over to the pleura after treatment with MWCNT have been observed in other studies as well (Porter et al., 2010). The presence of granulomas has been reported in several studies of carbon nanotube treatment of the airways, both after inhalation and instillation of SWCNT or MWCNT (Muller et al., 2005, Mercer et al. 2010; Ma-Hock et al., 2009, Chou et al., 2008; Lam et al., 2004). One study compared the effect of instillation and inhalation, and concluded that inhalation produced worse effects than instillation (Shvedova et al., 2008b). This comparison is interesting since most studies use instillation to study exposure to carbon nanotubes and inhalation is a more relevant model.

In two studies on cultured lung epithelial cells, researchers have demonstrated that MWCNT and SWCNT can affect permeability between the cells. This means that the permeability barrier that the epithelial cells form against contaminants might be harmed and that harmful substances could penetrate between the cells and reach other parts of the lung tissue. Increased permeability was observed only for long carbon nanotubes (5-9 μ m for MWCNT and 0.5-100 μ m for SWCNT), while shorter carbon nanotubes had no effect. It is not known whether similar events can take place in live animals, but it has been observed that asbestos can cause similar effects in cell culture (Rotoli et al., 2009; Rotoli et al., 2008).

11.4.1 Co-exposure of the airways

There is evidence that carbon nanotubes can aggravate various allergic conditions in the respiratory passages. Laboratory animals which had induced asthma or allergy and which were co-exposed to carbon nanotubes have, in several cases, demonstrated an exacerbated allergic condition. Conditions deteriorated regardless of whether the animals were exposed to SWCNT or MWCNT (Nygaard et al., 2009, Inoue et al., 2009, Inoue et al. 2010; Ryman-Rasmussen et al., 2009b). Co-exposure of airways of mice to carbon nanotubes and then bacteria led to an exacerbation of the inflammatory response and a slower phagocytosis of bacteria (Shvedova et al., 2008a).

11.5 Irritation

Whether the carbon nanotubes give rise to irritation is not clear. In a study of eye irritation and carbon nanotubes, a so-called Draize test revealed no irritation in the eyes of rabbits after 72 hours (Huczko and Lange, 2001), while in another study, transient reddening of the eyes was observed (Kishore et al., 2009). There is a need for research in this area.

11.6 The nervous system

The effects of carbon nanotubes on the nervous system have been studied through cell culture and by using laboratory animals exposed by direct injection into the brain or by intragastric tube feeding. In some cases, there were no adverse effects of carbon nanotubes on the nervous system, for instance after direct injection (Bardi et al., 2009; Gaillard et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2010) whereas disturbances in electrical activity of neurons and effects on cell survival were observed (Xu et al., 2009; Belyanskaya et al., 2009). Ultrastructural studies using transmission electron microscopy on neurons in the brain showed that following tube feeding, carbon nanotubes were found mainly in lysosomes and to some extent in the mitochondria (Yang et al., 2010).

11.7 Skin

Today, it is unknown whether carbon nanotubes can penetrate the stratum corneum of the skin and reach further down the skin. Inflammation of the epidermis and dermis and increased collagen production has been observed after the carbon nanotubes were applied to the skin of laboratory animals. The reason for this type of damage is believed to be an increase in reactive oxygen radicals, causing what is known as oxidative stress (Murray et al., 2009). Studies of cultured cells have shown that carbon nanotubes can induce cell death, inflammatory proteins and oxidative stress (Shvedova et al., 2003). Results that contradict these negative effects are also available, where no effects were found on either laboratory animals or on cultured cells (Huczko and Lange, 2001, Kishore et al., 2009).

11.8 Reproduction

The knowledge of the effects of carbon nanotubes on reproduction is very limited. Repeated intravenous injection of water-soluble MWCNT resulted in absorption in the testicles and temporarily decreased fertility in male mice (Bai et al., 2010). Carbon nanotubes may affect embryonic development in zebra fish. MWCNT causes defects at low concentrations and cell death, embryonic death, delayed hatching and improper spinal cord development at high

concentrations (Asharani et al., 2008). Low concentrations of MWCNT caused no effects on embryos in another study. On the other hand, survival of their offspring was affected, the reason for this is unknown. (Cheng et al., 2009).

11.9 Genotoxic effects

The genetic effects of carbon nanotubes have mainly been studied in experiments on cultured cells. In several cases, the genetic effects have been studied and so-called micronuclei, breaks in the double-stranded DNA, chromosomal abnormalities, mutations and activation of enzymes that repair DNA have all been found. Such effects have been observed for both MWCNT and SWCNT and the cause is not clear, but some speculate that it may be metal contaminants in the carbon nanotubes that are the cause or that nanotubes have the same dimension as the cytoskeleton of the cell and therefore may affect chromosome separation during cell division. (Cveticanin et al., 2010; Zhu et al., 2007; Ochoa-Olmos et al., 2009; Migliore et al., 2010; Sargent et al., 2009; Patlolla et al., 2010; Lindberg et al., 2009; Jacobsen et al., 2008). Some studies showed no genotoxicity at all, which could be due to the nature of the carbon nanotubes used (SWCNT), but also on the purity and how well the particles were separated from each other in solution (Kisin et al., 2007; Zeni et al., 2008).

11.10 Carcinogenicity

The formation of mesothelioma or granuloma after MWCNT in the abdominal cavity has been demonstrated in some studies (Poland et al., 2008, Takagi et al., 2008, Sakamoto et al., 2009). Such findings suggest that carbon nanotubes could produce the same fibre effects as asbestos in the event that carbon nanotubes come in contact with the mesothelium, the tissue layer that lines the outside of the body's organs. The discovery of mesothelioma in the abdominal cavity was questioned in some studies, in which only granulomas were found (Varga and Szendi, 2010). One of the studies which showed formation of mesotheliomas used mice which were mutants for p53, a protein that controls cell division, and therefore more likely to develop cancer (Takagi et al., 2008). A long-term study over a period of two years after a single dose of MWCNT did not demonstrate the presence of cancer after the injection of carbon nanotubes into the abdominal cavity. The researchers pointed out that the study should be interpreted with caution as the absence of a reaction does not mean that carbon nanotubes cannot cause cancer. A possible explanation was that the nanotubes were too short (0.7 μ m) to have any carcinogenic effect (Muller et al., 2009).

11.11 Short-term and long-term effects after repeated exposure (up to 90 days)

There are few long-term studies as to how carbon nanotubes affect animals and cells after repeated exposure. Most studies have been done using a single dose exposure whereupon laboratory animals were studied for different lengths of time, the longest so far being two years. For repeated exposure, laboratory animals have been studied for periods of up to 3 months. In one study rats inhaled MWCNT at doses ranging from 0.1 to 6 mg/m³ for 6 hours a day, 5 days a week for 13 weeks. No effects were found at 0.1 mg/m³, but progressive effects such as inflammation and epithelial damage at 0.4 to 6 mg/m³ (Pauluhn, 2010). In a similar study in which rats inhaled aerosolized MWCNT on 65 occasions over a three month period, the animals developed granulomas and exhibited inflammation in the

airways. If we calculate the dose to mg/kg body weight, the LOEL (Lowest observable effect level) occurs already at 0.23 mg/kg body weight for males and 0.3 mg/kg for female rats. The strongest effects were found at 0.5 to 2.5 mg/m³, but because effects had already been found at 0.1 mg/m³ it was not possible to determine a NOEL (No observable effect level). On the basis of using a relevant methodology and the low repeated doses which had an effect, this study is important for the risk assessment of carbon nanotubes (Ma-Hock et al., 2009). When mice were exposed repeatedly for a period of 7-14 days by inhaling similar doses of MWCNT, no effects on the lungs were observed. However an inhibition of the systemic immune defence was found (Mitchell et al., 2007).

11.12 Summary and discussion

In several studies, a clear correlation has been seen between the dose of carbon nanotubes and the biological effects that occur. Tables 7-11 summarize the relationship between the dose given to laboratory animals or cell cultures and the observed effects. A selection of representative studies have been made based on information found in the systematic literature searches. Some studies on animals and cells that are not included, but will be described in a document in preparation for the Nordic Expert Group for criteria documentation on chemical health risks, a document which is a further development of this report. In a number of studies, it was observed that respiratory exposure to carbon nanotubes may lead to the formation of granulomas, fibrosis and the transition of carbon nanotubes to the pleura. This occurs even at such low concentrations in the air as 0.1 mg/m³. Progressive fibrosis occurs at 0.25 mg/kg body weight SWCNT on repeated exposure of mice, for example, for MWCNT mild granulomatous inflammation of the respiratory passages of rats was seen following repeated exposure for a total of 0.23 to 0.3 mg/kg body weight. Increased dosage leads in most studies to a worsened condition, see Tables 7 and 8 for further effects.

As for skin exposure, the effects on laboratory animals can be seen at 4.7 mg/kg body weight or 0.6 mg/kg bodyweight following subcutaneous injection of SWCNT and MWCNT. For superficial dermal exposure to SWCNT, there is a dose-response relationship, see Table 9.

Carbon nanotubes have so far not been shown to cause mesothelioma (cancer) of the pleura in laboratory animals. However mesothelioma arose after intraperitoneal injection in mice and in the scrotum of rats. The effects occurred at doses of 111-121 mg/kg body weight in mice and 1 mg/kg body weight in rats. Mesothelioma can occur in humans after exposure to asbestos. Both carbon nanotubes and asbestos fibres demonstrate similar characteristics: they have a length-width ratio greater than 3:1, some asbestos fibres have similar diameters of MWCNT (40 nm). They differ however in terms of their chemistry and structure. Both materials can be considered biopersistent, even if it is not entirely clear to what extent the carbon nanotubes can be broken down. Carbon nanotubes have a tendency to form aggregates in the form of balls or rope-like structures and this is due to their intrinsic hydrophobic properties, which make them difficult to dissolve in liquids without the use of detergents for example.

Absolute dose	Dose (mg/kg)	Ani- mal	Num- ber	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure form	Exposure time	Effects	Reference
5 μg (5mg/m ³)	0,25	Mouse	12	0,8-1,2 nm	100-1000 nm	Unmodified, 17,7% Fe-content	Inhalation	5 h/day i 4 days	Increase in inflammatory cells and proteins, progressive fibrosis	Shvedova et al. 2008b
5 µg	0,25	Mouse	12	0,8-1,2 nm	100-1000 nm	Unmodified, 17,7% Fe-content	Instillation	1 dose	Increased number of inflammatory cells, increase of inflammatory proteins	Shvedova et al. 2008b
10 µg	0,3	Mouse	4-6	-	-	Well separated	Instillation	1 dose	Transient inflammatory response, no granulomas observed. Increase of connective tissue thickness.	Mercer et al. 2008
10 µg	0,5	Mouse	12	0,8-1,2 nm	100-1000 nm	Unmodified, 17,7% Fe-content	Instillation	1 dose	Increased number of inflammatory cells, increase of inflammatory proteins	Shvedova et al. 2008b
10µg	0,5	Mouse	6	1-4 nm	1-3 µm	Unmodified	Aspiration	1 dose + bacterial/10 days	Increase in inflammatory cells	Shvedova et al. 2008a
10µg	0,5	Mouse	6	1-4 nm	1-3 µm	Unmodified	Aspiration	1 dose /10 days	Increase in inflammatory cells	Shvedova et al. 2008a
20 µg	1	Mouse	12	0,8-1,2 nm	100-1000 nm	Unmodified, 17,7% Fe-content	Instillation	1 dose	Increased number of inflammatory cells, increase of inflammatory proteins	Shvedova et al. 2008b
40 µg	1,3	Mouse	4	-	Aggregates approx 25- 150 nm	Treated with acid or not	Aspiration	1 dose	Increased number of inflammatory cells, increase of inflammatory proteins	Saxena et al. 2007
40 µg	1,6	Mouse	4-8	1-2 nm	100-2000 nm	Unmodified, dissolved in PBS	Instillation	1 dose	After 30 days, inflammation and granuloma	Mutlu et al. 2010
40 µg	1,6	Mouse	4-8	1-2 nm	100-2000 nm	Unmodified, dissolved in Pluronics	Instillation	1 dose	Well separated CNTs caused no effects. Excretion via macrophages	Mutlu et al. 2010
40µg	2	Mous e	6	1-4 nm	1-3 μm	Unmodified	Aspiration	1 dose + bacterial/10 days	Increase in inflammatory cells, synergistic increase in collagen after CNT bacterial exposure, impaired phagocytosis of bacteria	Shvedova et al. 2008a

Table 7. Effects of airway exposure to SWCNT

Absolut e dose	Dose (mg/kg)	Anim al	Num ber	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure form	Exposure time	Effects	Reference
40µg	2	Mouse	6	1-4 nm	1-3 µm	Unmodified	Aspiration	1 dose/10 days	Increase in inflammatory cells, increase in collagen	Shvedova et al. 2008a
0,1 mg	3,3	Mouse	5	-	-	High levels of metal contaminants	Instillation	1 dose	Slight inflammation and granulomas in animals treated with contaminated CNT	Lam et al. 2004
-	4	Mouse	8	2-20 nm	100 nm - several μm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Treatment with CNT and 33 µg/kg LPS led to worsening pneumonia. Proinflammatory proteins increased in the blood.	Inoue et al. 2008
0,5 mg	16,5	Mouse	5	-	-	High levels of metal contaminants	Instillation	1 dose	More severe inflammation and granuloma, mortality 5/9 in a group	Lam et al. 2004
0,5 mg	-	Mouse	-	-	-	-	Instillation	1 dose	Activation of macrophages, the presence of granulomas, oxidative stress	Chou et al. 2008
50 μg × 7	1,6 × 7	Mouse	12-13	0,8-2 nm	100 nm -15 μm	-	Instillation	1 dose	Carbon nanotubes exacerbated allergic response in mice. T-helper chemo-and cytokines increased	Inoue et al. 2010

Absolute dose	Dose (mg/kg)	Animal	Number	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure form	Exposure time	Effects	Reference
1 µg	0,005	Rat	6	20-50 nm	0,5-2 μm	Dispersed with BSA	Instillation	1 dose	Significant increase in phagocytosis 1 and 7 days after exposure	Elgrabli et al. 2008
-	0,04	Rat	-	60 nm	1,5 µm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	No effects after 6 months	Kobayashi et al. 2010
10 µg	0,05	Rat	6	20-50 nm	0,5-2 μm	Dispersed with BSA	Instillation	1 dose	Significant increase in phagocytosis 1-90 days after exposure	Elgrabli et al. 2008
0,3 mg/m ³	0,2	Mouse	6	10-20 nm	5-15 μm	Unmodified	Inhalation	6 h/day	Repeated inhalation 7-14 days. Carbon nanotubes in the lung macrophages, no increase in white blood cells. Systemic immunosuppression	Mitchell et al. 2007
-	0,2	Rat	-	60 nm	1,5 µm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Observations 1 day - 6 months after dosing. No effects	Kobayashi et al. 2010
1 mg/m ³	0.2	Mouse	10	10-50 nm	1-10 µm	-	Inhalation	En 6 h exposure	Observed 1-14 days. No effects	Ryman- Rasmussen et al. 2009a
0,1 mg/m3 (46,8 µg/animal)	0,23-0,3	Rat	10	5-15 nm	0,1 -10 μm	9,6% AlO	Inhalation	6h/day on 65 occasions for 90 days	Mild granulomatous inflammation. No systemic effects. (LOEC)	Ma-Hock et al. 2009
1 mg/m ³	0,5	Mouse	6	10-20 nm	5-15 μm	Unmodified	Inhalation	6 h/day	Repeated inhalation 7-14 days. Carbon nanotubes in the lung macrophages, no increase in white blood cells. Systemic immunosuppression	Mitchell et al. 2007
10 µg	0,5	Mouse	6-8	49 nm	3,9 µm	Unmodified	Aspiration	1 dose	Observed 1-56 days. CNTs, which penetrated the alveolar epithelium	Mercer et al. 2010
100 µg	0,5	Rat	6	20-50 nm	0,5-2 μm	Dispersed with BSA	Instillation	1 dose	Increase in inflammatory cells after 7 and 180 days, significant phagocytosis 1-180 days	Elgrabli et al. 2008

Table 8. Effects of airway exposure to MWCNT.

20 µg	0,9	Mouse	6-8	49 nm	3,9 µm	Unmodified	Aspiration	1 dose	Observed 1-56 days. Granulomatous ulcers, CNT, which penetrated the alveolar epithelium	Mercer et al. 2010
-	1	Rat	-	40-60 nm	0,5-500 μm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Mild inflammation	Liu et al. 2008
Absolute dose	Dose (mg/kg)	Animal	Number	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure form	Exposure time	Effects	Reference
-	1	Rat	-	60 nm	1,5 μm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Observations 1 day - 6 months after dosing. Transient inflammation. MWCNT in macrophages. Slight granuloma formation	Kobayashi et al. 2010
0,5 mg/m ³ (243 µg/djur)	1,2-1,6	Rat	10	5-15 nm	0,1 -10 μm	9,6% AlO	Inhalation	6h/day on 65 occasions for 90 days	Granulomatous inflammation, inflammation, lipoproteinosis. No systemic effects	Ma-Hock et al. 2009
0,05 mg	1,6	Mouse	5-6	50 nm	10 µm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Inflammation of the bronchi, damage to the alveoli, immune response	Li et al. 2007a
40 µg	1,8	Mouse	7-8	49 nm	3,9 µm	Unmodified	Aspiration	1 dose	Observed 1-56 days. Granulomatous ulcers CNT which penetreated the aveolar	Mercer et al. 2010
0,5 mg	2,2	Rat	4-6	9,7 nm	5,9 µm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	No pathological findings, 81% of the dose remaining after 60 days	Muller et al. 2005
0,5 mg	2,2	Rat	4-6	11,3 nm	0,7 µm	Ground	Instillation	1 dose	Increase of TNF-alpha and soluble type I collagen, 36% in a dose remaining after 60 days	Muller et al. 2005
0,07 mg	2,3	Mouse	5-6	50 nm	10 µm	Unmodified	Inhalation	-	Repeated inhalation for 8 days. Proliferation and increase in the thickness of the alveoli	Li et al. 2007a
5 mg/m ³	2,7	Mouse	6	10-20 nm	5-15 μm	Unmodified	Inhalation	6 h/day	Repeated inhalation 7-14 days. Carbon nanotubes in the lung macrophages, no increase in white blood cells. Systemic	Mitchell et al. 2007

immunosuppression

	3	Rat	-	40-60 nm	0,5-500 μm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Severe inflammation, carbon nanotubes remaining after 3 months	Liu et al. 2008
80 µg	3,6	Mouse	6-8	49 nm	3,9 µm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Observed 1-56 days. Granulomatous ulcers, CNT, which penetrated the alveolar epithelium	Mercer et al. 2010
-	4	Mouse	8	2-20 nm	100 nm - serveral μm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Treatment with CNT and 33 µg/kg LPS led to worsening pneumonia. Proinflammatory proteins increased in the blood.	Inoue et al. 2008
Absolute dose	Dose (mg/kg)	Animal	Number	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure form	Exposure time	Effects	Reference
30 mg/m^3	4	Mouse	10	10-50 nm	1-10 µm	-	Inhalation	6hr exposure	Observed 1-14 days. Focal subpleural fibrosis, inflammation	Ryman- Rasmussen et al. 2009a
100 mg/m ³	4, trakeobronkialt	Mouse	40	10-30/30- 50 nm	0,5-40 μm	Unmodified, 5% Ni	Inhalation	6hr exposure	Airway fibrosis after 14 days in mice that have been co-exposed to ovalbumin, but not for mice that only received CNTs.	Ryman- Rasmussen et al. 2009b
0,14 mg	4,6	Mouse	5-6	50 nm	10 µm	Unmodified	Inhalation	-	Repeated inhalation for 16 days. Proliferation and increase in the thickness of the alveoli	Li et al. 2007a
-	5	Rat	-	40-60 nm	0,5-500 μm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Severe inflammation, carbon nanotubes remaining after 3 months	Liu et al. 2008
2,5 mg/m ³ (1170 μg/djur)	5,7-7,5	Rat	10	5-15 nm	0,1 -10 μm	9,6% AlO	Inhalation	6h/day on 65 occasions for 90 days	Granulomatous inflammation, inflammation, lipoproteinos. No systemic effects	Ma-Hock et al. 2009
-	7	Rat	-	40-60 nm	0,5-500 μm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Severe inflammation, carbon nanotubes remaining after 3 months	Liu et al. 2008

0,21 mg	7	Mouse	5-6	50 nm	10 µm	Unmodified	Inhalation	-	Repeated inhalation for 24 days. Proliferation and increase in the thickness of the alveoli	Li et al. 2007a
2 mg	8,9	Rat	4-6	9,7 nm	5,9 µm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months	Muller et al. 2005
2 mg	8,9	Rat	4-6	11,3 nm	0,7 µm	Ground	Instillation	1 dose	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months, TNF-alpha	Muller et al. 2005
100 mg/m ³	12, alveolärt	Mouse	40	10-30/30- 50 nm	0,5-40 μm	Unmodified, 5% Ni	Inhalation	6hr exposure	Airway fibrosis after 14 days in mice that have been co-exposed to ovalbumin, but not for mice that only received CNTs.	Ryman- Rasmussen et al. 2009b
5 mg	22,2	Rat	4-6	9,7 nm	5,9 µm	Unmodified	Instillation	1 dose	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months	Muller et al. 2005
Absolute	Dose (mø/kø)	Animal	Number	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure	Exposure time	Effects	Reference
dose	Dose (ing/ing)	7 11111111111111111111111111111	1 (umber	Diameter	Dength	Characteristics	form	Exposure time	Lifetts	Reference
dose 5 mg	22,2	Rat	4-6	11,3 nm	0,7 μm	Ground	form Instillation	1 dose	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months, TNF-alpha	Muller et al. 2005
dose 5 mg 20	22,2	Rat	4-6 4	11,3 nm 49 nm	0,7 μm 3,86 μm	Ground	form Instillation Aspiration	1 dose	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months, TNF-alpha Inflammatory response, some inflammation of the pleura, fibrosis.	Muller et al. 2005 Porter et al 2010
dose 5 mg 20 40	22,2 -	Rat Mouse Mouse	4-6 4 4	11,3 nm 49 nm 49 nm	0,7 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm	Ground Unmodified Unmodified	form Instillation Aspiration Aspiration	1 dose 1 dose 1 dose	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months, TNF-alpha Inflammatory response, some inflammation of the pleura, fibrosis. Inflammatory response, fibrosis	Muller et al. 2005 Porter et al 2010 Porter et al 2010
dose 5 mg 20 40 80	22,2 - -	Rat Mouse Mouse Mouse	4-6 4 4 4	11,3 nm 49 nm 49 nm 49 nm	0,7 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm	Ground Unmodified Unmodified Unmodified	form Instillation Aspiration Aspiration Aspiration	1 dose 1 dose 1 dose 1 dose 1 dose	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months, TNF-alpha Inflammatory response, some inflammation of the pleura, fibrosis. Inflammatory response, fibrosis Inflammatory response, some inflammation of the pleura, fibrosis. Carbon nanotubes in the pleura	Muller et al. 2005 Porter et al 2010 Porter et al 2010 Porter et al 2010
dose 5 mg 20 40 80 10	22,2 - -	Rat Mouse Mouse Mouse	4-6 4 4 4 4	11,3 nm 49 nm 49 nm 49 nm 49 nm	0,7 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm	Ground Unmodified Unmodified Unmodified	form Instillation Aspiration Aspiration Aspiration	1 dose 1 dose 1 dose 1 dose 1 dose	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months, TNF-alpha Inflammatory response, some inflammatory response, fibrosis Inflammatory response, fibrosis Inflammatory response, some inflammation of the pleura, fibrosis. Carbon nanotubes in the pleura Inflammatory response	Muller et al. 2005 Porter et al 2010 Porter et al 2010 Porter et al 2010 Porter et al 2010
dose 5 mg 20 40 80 10 0,1 mg/m ³	22,2 - - -	Rat Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat	4-6 4 4 4 4 4 50	11,3 nm 49 nm 49 nm 49 nm 49 nm 10 nm	0,7 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm 3,86 μm 200-300 nm	Ground Unmodified Unmodified Unmodified Unmodified	form Instillation Aspiration Aspiration Aspiration Inhalation	1 dose 1 dose 1 dose 1 dose 1 dose - 6 h/day×5 days for 13 weeks	Granuloma, alveolitis, fibrosis and other pathological changes after 2 months, TNF-alpha Inflammatory response, some inflammation of the pleura, fibrosis. Inflammatory response, fibrosis Inflammatory response, some inflammation of the pleura, fibrosis. Carbon nanotubes in the pleura Inflammatory response No effects (NOEL)	Muller et al. 2005 Porter et al 2010 Porter et al 2010

1,5 mg/m ³	-	Rat	50	10 nm	200-300 nm	-	Inhalation	6 h/day×5 days for 13 weeks	Damage to the epithelium, increase in inflammatory cells, translocation of the CNT to the lymph nodes	Pauluhn 2010
6 mg/m ³	-	Rat	50	10 nm	200-300 nm	-	Inhalation	6 h/day×5 days for 13 weeks	Increase in inflammatory cells, granulomatous effects, increases in bronchoalveolar hyperplasia, transport of the CNT to the lymph nodes	Pauluhn 2010
11 mg/m ³	-	Rat	-	10-16 nm	-	0,53% Co	Inhalation	1×6h, 3 months post exposure	Dose-dependent increase in inflammatory cells and cytotoxic markers, increased collagen production in the BAL	Ellinger- Ziegelbauer & Pauluhn 2009
241 mg/m ³	-	Rat	-	10-16 nm	-	0,53% Co	Inhalation	1x6h, 3 months post exposure	Dose-dependent increase in inflammatory cells and cytotoxic markers, increased collagen production in the BAL	Ellinger- Ziegelbauer & Pauluhn 2009
11 mg/m ³	-	Rat	-	10-16 nm	-	0,12% Co	Inhalation	1x6h, 3 months post exposure	Dose-dependent increase in inflammatory cells and cytotoxic markers, increased collagen production in BAL	Ellinger- Ziegelbauer & Pauluhn 2009

Absolute dose	Dose (mg/kg)	Animal	Number	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure form	Exposure time	Effects	Reference	Туре
0,5 mg	-	Rabbit	-	-	-	Dimension: 901 nm	Dermal	4 h	None	Kishore et al. 2009	MWCNT
0,5 mg	-	Rabbit	-	-	-	Dimension 554 nm	Dermal	4 h	None	Kishore et al. 2009	MWCNT
0,1 mg	0,6	Rat	-	20-50 nm	220 nm	Unmodified	Subcutaneous	1-4 weeks	Slight inflammation, no neutrophils, no necrosis	Sato et al. 2005	MWCNT
0,1 mg	0,6	Rat	-	20-50 nm	825 nm	Unmodified	Subcutaneous	1-4 weeks	Slight inflammation, no neutrophils, no necrosis	Sato et al. 2005	MWCNT
40 µg	2,35	Mouse	3	-	-	30% Iron	Dermal	1 dose/day, 5 days	No observed effects	Murray et al. 2009	SWCNT
80 µg	4,7	Mouse	3	-	-	30% Iron	Dermal	1 dose/day, 5 days	Several cells in the epidermis, oxidative damage	Murray et al. 2009	SWCNT
160 µg	9,4	Mouse	3	-	-	30% Iron	Dermal	1 dose/day, 5 days	More cells in the epidermis, thickening of the skin, collagen production, oxidative damage	Murray et al. 2009	SWCNT

Table 9. Effects after skin exposure to MWCNT and SWCNT.

Absolute dose	Dose (mg/kg)	Animal	Number	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure form	Exposure time	Effects	Reference	Туре
-	0,064	Rat	8-10	0,9-1,7 nm	<1µm	-	Tube feed	1 dose, 24 hrs	Modified nucleotides in the DNA of the lung and liver	Folkmann et al. 2009	SWCNT
10 µg	0,3	Mouse	-	-	-	Unfunctionalized	Intratracheal	1 dose	No significant effects	Tong et al. 2009	SWCNT
10 µg	0,4	Mouse	-	0,7-1,5 nm	1 µm	-	Pharyngeal instillation	1 dose, 60 days	Damage to mitochondrial DNA in the aorta	Li et al. 2007b	SWCNT
-	0,64	Rat	8-10	0,9-1,7 nm	<1µm	-	Tube feed	1 dose, 24hrs	Modified nucleotides in the DNA of the lung and liver	Folkmann et al. 2009	SWCNT
-	1	Rat	8	1,2-1,6 nm	2-5 nm (sic!)	-	Intratracheal	2 does over 4 weeks	Modified baroreflex, the influence of autonomic cardiovascular control	Legramante et al. 2009	SWCNT
40 µg	1,3	Mouse	-	-	-	Unfunctionalized	Intratracheal	1 dose	Increase of creatine kinase, cardiac fibre degeneration	Tong et al. 2009	SWCNT
40 µg	1,3	Mouse	-	-	-	Acid- functionalized	Intratracheal	1 dose	Significant increase in size of infarction, creatine kinase, cardiac fibre degeneration	Tong et al. 2009	SWCNT
10 µg	1,3	Mouse	-	-	-	Acid- functionalized	Intratracheal	1 dose	No significant effects	Tong et al. 2009	SWCNT
40 µg	1,4	Mouse	-	0,7-1,5 nm	1 µm	-	Pharyngeal instillation	1 dose, 60 days	Damage to mitochondrial DNA	Li et al. 2007b	SWCNT
40 µg	1,5	Mouse	-	0,8-1,2 nm	0,1-1 μm	8,8 wt% Iron	Pharyngeal aspiration	4 h	Local and systemic effect on inflammatory parameters	Ederly et al. 2009	SWCNT
40 µg	1,5	Mouse	-	80 nm	10-20 μm	0,2% wt% Iron	Pharyngeal aspiration	4 h	Local and systemic effect on inflammatory parameters	Ederly et al. 2009	MWCNT
20 μg x 4	2,8	Mouse	-	0,7-1,5 nm	1 µm	-	Pharyngeal instillation	4 does over 8 weeks	Atherosclerosis was increased in ApoE-/- transgenic mice. Plaque formation in aorta, mtDNA damage	Li et al. 2007b	SWCNT

 Table 10. Cardiovascular effects after exposure to MWCNT, and SWCNT.

Absolute dose	Dose (mg/kg)	Animal	Number	Diameter	Length	Characteristics	Exposure form	Exposure time	Effects	Reference	Туре
-	1	Rat	7	70-110 nm	2 µm	Unmodified	Intrascotal	1 dose, 1 year	Mesoteliom, 6/7 animals died	Sakamoto et al. 2009	MWCNT
0,5 mg	2-2,5	Rat	5	11 ,3 nm	0,7 µm	Ground	Intratracheal	1 dose, 3 days	Inflammation, neutrophils and macrophages	Muller et al. 2008	MWCNT
50 µg	2,7	Mouse	3-6	15 nm	1-5 µm	Short	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 7 days	non significant inflammation, no granulomas	Poland et al. 2008	MWCNT
50 µg	2,7	Mouse	3-6	10,4 nm	5-20 μm	Short	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 7 days	no significant inflammation, 1 granuloma in 1 animal	Poland et al. 2008	MWCNT
50 µg	2,7	Mouse	3-6	85 nm	13 µm	Long	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 7 days	significant inflammation, granuloma in abdominal cavity mesotel	Poland et al. 2008	MWCNT
50 µg	2,7	Mouse	3-6	165 nm	56 µm	Long	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 7 days	significant inflammation, granuloma in abdominal cavity mesotel	Poland et al. 2008	MWCNT
2 mg	5,6-7,1	Rat	50	11,3 nm	0,7 µm	Unmodified	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 2 years	None	Muller et al. 2009	MWCNT
2 mg	5,6-7,1	Rat	50	11,3 nm	0,7 µm	Structural defects	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 2 years	None	Muller et al. 2009	MWCNT
2 mg	8-10	Rat	5	11 ,3 nm	0,7 μm	Ground	Intratracheal	1 dose, 3 days	Inflammation, neutrophils and macrophages. Induction of micronuclei in pneumocyte	Muller et al. 2008	MWCNT
5 mg	20-25	Rat	5	11 ,3 nm	0,7 µm	Ground	Intratracheal	1 dose, 3 days	Inflammation, neutrophils and macrophages.	Muller et al. 2008	MWCNT
20 mg	55-71	Rat	50	11,3 nm	0,7 µm	Structural defects	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 2 years	None	Muller et al. 2009	MWCNT
20 mg	55-71	Rat	50	11,3 nm	0,7 µm	Unmodified	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 2 years	None	Muller et al. 2009	MWCNT
3 mg	111-121	Mouse	19	100 nm	5 µm	Unmodified	Intraperitoneal	1 dose, 180 days	Mesothelioma, 14/16 animals died	Takagi et al. 2008	MWCNT

 Table 11. Carcinogenic effects after exposure to MWCNT or SWCNT.

12. Effects on human

The effects on humans after exposure to carbon nanotubes are more or less unknown. In one study, tests were made to find out whether carbon nanotubes caused skin irritation in human volunteers, but no effects were observed (Huczko and Lange, 2001). This study is flawed because it applied a mixture of soot with a high content of unspecified carbon nanotubes. The concentration of carbon nanotubes in the soot was not stated. In a study of deceased patients who participated in the dereliction work at Ground Zero after the terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001 carbon nanotubes were found in their lungs. However, there is no correlation between the discovery of carbon nanotubes and causes of death (Wu et al. 2010). There are major gaps in the knowledge with respect to the effects of carbon nanotubes on human beings. The growing use of carbon nanotubes in industrial applications makes such studies urgent, see further discussion under the section "Future research needs."

13. Occupational exposure limits

To date, two manufacturers of MWCNT (Bayer, Nanocyl) have proposed their own occpational exposure limits on their products, see Table 12 (Schulte et al., 2010). NIOSH has proposed an occupational exposure limit for MWCNT at 7 μ g/m³ (Schulte et al., 2010). Even a benchmark limit for carbon nanotubes based on the number of fibres per unit volume has been suggested, 0.01 fibre/cm³ (IFA, 2009). This guideline is based on observed health effects, therefore, a health risk to workers may still exist even though the value is followed.

Type of carbon nanotubes	Occupational exposure limit (8 hr time-weighted	References
	average)	
MWCNT	$2.5 \ \mu g/m^3$	Nanocyl, 2009
MWCNT	$50 \ \mu g/m^3$	Bayer, 2010
MWCNT	$7 \mu g/m^3$	Schulte et al., 2010
Carbon nanotubes	$0,01 \text{ fibre/cm}^{3a}$	Institute for Occupational
		Safety and Health of the
		German Social Accident
		Insurance (IFA), 2009

Tabel 12. Proposed occupational exposure limit values for carbon nanotubes

^aBenchmark limit, not health-based

14. Safety and protection devices and personal protective equipment

Below is a summary of the advice and guidelines that various national organizations such as NIOSH, Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and the IFA, have for work with carbon nanotubes/nanoparticles. The precautionary principle should prevail when working with carbon nanotubes/nanoparticles until we know more about their toxicity and until occupational exposure limits have been established (HSE, 2009). If the use of carbon nanotubes cannot be avoided, a high level of elimination measures should be used so that occupational exposure is reduced to the lowest possible level.

Airborne nanoparticles behave like gas molecules, therefore established safety and protection devices for gases should also work in order to protect workers from exposure to nanoparticles. Traditionally when it comes to limiting and controlling the various types of air pollution through elimination controls, a step by step approach is used, see Table 13. This should also be used on exposure to airborne nanoparticles (Schulte et al.., 2008; NIOSH, 2009).

Table 13. The hierachy of elimination controls with regard to limiting and controlling air pollutants of nanoparticles based on traditional industrial hygiene

Control method/Elimination control	Process, equipment, or work task
1. Elimination	Change the composition to eliminate the risk
2. Substitution	Exchange of substance with a high risk to low risk
3. Safety and protection devices	Isolation/enclosure, ventilation (process, general)
4. Administrative controls	Handling and safety instructions, the correct work methodology,
	training, education, shift planning, medical checks, regular
	cleaning, labelling of products that contain nanomaterials, safety
	data sheets about nanomaterials
5. Personal protective equipment	Respiratory protective equipment, protective clothing, protective
	gloves, protective goggles, ear defenders

It is also important, with regard to risk management when handling carbon nanotubes, to limit the number of workers potentially exposed to carbon nanotubes and minimize (HSE, 2009):

- the level and duration of exposure (through training and handling instructions)
- the volumes used
- the handling of the carbon nanotubes

If possible, the carbon nanotube materials should be kept wet or damp to reduce the risk of them becoming airborne.

14.1 Control banding

"Control banding" has its origins in the pharmaceutical industry and is a useful tool for making exposure assessments in the workplace. Control banding is based on the appropriate control technology is recommended to a chemical that falls within a given hazardous group (based on risk phrases from safety data sheets and handling). Control banding has the potential to be a useful concept for workplaces that handle nanomaterials (Maynard et al., 2007, Schulte et al., 2008).

14.2 Safety and protection devices

To limit worker exposure to carbon nanotubes, it is important to avoid any free air flowing nanoparticles (Nanosafe, 2008). For most work processes and handling operations the emission of carbon nanotubes into the air can probably be controlled through different types of safety and protection devices (enclosures, fume cupboards, drawbenches, local extraction, etc. (Methner et al. 2010b). One recommendation is that all processes that use nanoparticles are enclosed and that these enclosures are designed to fit gaseous substances. Another recommendation is that safety and protection devices that are effective against dust in general are also suitable for the elimination of nanoparticles and ultrafine particles (IFA, 2009). According to NIOSH, conventional safety and protection devices, such as equipment for the encapsulation of emission sources and process ventilation, should be efficient enough to also capture airborne nanoparticles (2009). Current knowledge suggests that the use of HEPA filters in ventilation systems are likely to capture nanoparticles effectively (Hinds, 1999), cyclones however, do not. When exposure measurements at workplaces are conducted where carbon nanotubes were produced and handled, it was reported that the established safety and protection devices seemed to be effective (Han et al. (2008, Yeganeh et al., 2008). If you cannot enclose a process that uses nanoparticles, local process ventilation should be used, such as local exhaust ventilation with a particulate filter (e.g. HEPA) along with extensive personal protective equipment (respiratory equipment, protective gloves, protective clothing, safety shoes, Nanosafe, 2008; Methner, 2008).

14.3 Personal protective equipment

Use of personal protective equipment such as respiratory protective equipment, protective gloves and protective clothing is the last step in the previously described elimination controls and is the last step among the controls to be taken to protect workers from the harmful effects of carbon nanotubes (Schulte et al., 2008). Because there is insufficient knowledge about the effects on health with regard to carbon nanotubes/nanoparticles, and there is limited data available in order to assess how effective occupational exposure can be controlled, the use of personal protective equipment may need to be used.

14.3.1 Respiratory protective equipment

Power assisted respiratory protective equipment provide the best protection and are the most comfortable (Nanosafe, 2008). A half mask with particle filter class FFP3 can also be used (Nanosafe, 2008). Respiratory protective equipment should only be used in conjunction with other safety and protection devices. HSE recommends respiratory protective equipment with a protection factor of 40 or higher, and that all employees who use such equipment have undergone training and have had face fit testing.

14.3.2 Protective glove

Disposable gloves made of nitrile appear to be particularly suitable for work with nanoparticles (Nanosafe, 2008). Attention must be paid to the gloves so that they have

adequate mechanical stability to prevent skin contact (IFA, 2009). The manner in which the gloves are put on and taken off, as well as their overlap with protective clothing is more relevant for possible skin exposure than the glove material's permeability (IFA, 2009).

14.3.3 Protective clothing

Protective clothing should prevent dermal exposure, and such clothing should preferably be made of membrane materials, as woven or knitted fabrics and fabrics made of cotton or wool provide less protection (IFA, 2009). This is confirmed by a recent study which showed that the non-woven fabrics of polypropylene or polyethylene (airtight material) offer more effective protection to nanoparticles than cotton (Golanski et al., 2009). It is not known at present how effective protective clothing is in preventing the skin from being exposed to different nanoparticles (Schulte et al., 2008). However, there are already some standards for test methods for protective clothing or results for nanometre-sized particles, and this may provide an indication of the effectiveness of protective clothing (Schulte et al., 2008; ASTM, 2003).

14.4 Cleaning

Carbon nanotubes are stable compounds and have no natural biodegradability. Carbon nanotubes that have been emitted into the work environment are still there unless you eliminate them by cleaning operations. Regular cleaning in the workplace is an important operation in the manufacturing and use of nanoparticles (Nanosafe, 2008). It is important to have easily cleaned surfaces when handling nanoparticles. Vacuuming seems to be an effective cleaning method, however, some consideration should be taken when working with nanoparticles to the risk of a dust explosion (carbon nanotubes have a low risk of this; Bouillard et al., 2009; Nanosafe, 2008). In addition, it is important that you immediately clean up any spills and leakages of nanoparticles in the work areas. Adequate personal protective equipment should always be used during cleaning and maintenance work.

14.5 Waste disposal of carbon nanotubes

According to the HSE (2009), waste containing carbon nanotubes must be classified and labelled as hazardous waste. Carbon nanotubes waste must be sealed carefully using double layers of polyethylene bags. This should be done in a fume cupboard which has a HEPA filter or by using process ventilation such as local exhaust ventilation with HEPA filters. Combustion of waste containing carbon nanotubes is preferred as pyrolysis above 500 °C oxidizes carbon nanotubes completely.

14.6 Summary

When working with carbon nanotubes/nanoparticles, a precautionary principle should prevail. If working with carbon nanotubes, a high level of elimination controls should be used so that occupational exposure is reduced to the lowest possible level. For most work processes and handling operations, the emission of carbon nanotubes into the air can probably be controlled through different types of safety and protection devices such as enclosures, fume cupboards, drawbenches, local extraction, etc. Personal protective equipment in the form of respiratory protection equipment, gloves and protective clothing may also need to be used when there is limited capabilities of measuring and assessing occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes.

15. Future research needs

Below is a summary of future research needs within the area identified when this report was written.

- There is a need for a standardized measurement methodology for the quantification of occupational exposure to carbon nanotubes.
- More exposure measurements must be conducted at workplaces where carbon nanotubes are produced, used, handled or where products containing carbon nanotubes are machined. Both the number of personal day measurements with sampling in the breathing zone must be done, but also more personal exposure measurements in specific situations/exposure situations must also be done.
- More workplaces where carbon nanotubes are produced, used, handled or where products containing carbon nanotubes are processed must also be characterized by measurements with direct-reading aerosol instruments.
- There is a need for personal sampling equipment to be developed to measure parameters other than mass concentration.
- The risk assessment of carbon nanotubes must be done when reliable exposure data for carbon nanotubes is available.
- A consensus must be achieved in terms of dosmetric and the parameters that affect the toxicity of carbon nanotubes.
- More studies on reproductive toxicology are required.
- The bio-persistency of carbon nanotubes needs to be examined more, i.e. how long they remain in the body after exposure.
- Inhalation or instillation studies with repeated dosing over periods greater than 90 days are needed to evaluate the long-term effects of carbon nanotubes in a way that reflects true exposure and its effects.
- Studies as to whether carbon nanotubes can cause mesothelioma or not in the airways.
- Toxicity in composite materials consisting of the carbon nanotubes.
- Development of biomarkers to evaluate and detect exposure to carbon nanotubes.

16. References

- Allen BL, Kichambare PD, Gou P, Vlasova II, Kapralov AA, Konduru N, Kagan VE & Star A (2008) Biodegradation of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes through Enzymatic Catalysis. Nano Letters 8:3899-3903
- Aitken RJ, Chaudhry MQ, Boxall ABA, Hull M (2006) Manufacture and use of nanomaterials: current status in the UK and global trends. Occup Med (Lond) 56:300-306
- Arnold Ms, Green Aa, Hulvat Jf, Stupp Si & Hersam Mc (2006) Sorting carbon nanotubes by electronic structure using density differentiation. Nature Nanotechnology 1:60-65
- Aschberger K, Johnston HJ, Stone V, Aitken RJ, Hankin SM, Peters SAK, Tran CL, Christensen FM (2010) Review of carbon nanotubes toxicity and exposure-Appraisal of human health risk assessment based on open literature. Crit Rev Toxicol 40:759-790
- Asharani PV, Serina NGB, Nurmawati MH, Wu YL, Gong Z & Valiyaveettil S (2008) Impact of Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes on Aquatic Species. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology 8:3603-3609
- ASTM International, ASTM Subcommittee F23.40: Standard Test Method for Resistance of Materials Used in Protective Clothing to Penetration by Bloodborne Pathogens Using Phi-X174 Bacteriophage Penetration as A Test System (ASTM F1671-03). [Standard] West Conshohocken, Pa.: ASTM International, 2003.
- Bai YH, Zhang Y, Zhang JP, Mu QX, Zhang WD, Butch ER, Snyder SE & Yan B (2010) Repeated administrations of carbon nanotubes in male mice cause reversible testis damage without affecting fertility. Nature Nanotechnology 5:683-689
- Bardi G, Tognini P, Ciofani G, Raffa V, Costa M & Pizzorusso T (2009) Pluronic-coated carbon nanotubes do not induce degeneration of cortical neurons in vivo and in vitro. Nanomedicine-Nanotechnology Biology and Medicine 5:96-104
- Barkauskas J, Stankeviciene I & Selskis A (2010) A novel purification method of carbon nanotubes by high-temperature treatment with tetrachloromethane. Separation and Purification Technology 71:331-336
- Baron PA, Maynard AD, Foley, M (2003) Evaluation of Aerosol Release during the Handling of Unrefined Single Walled Carbon Nanotube Material. National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, Cincinnati, OH, April, Report No. NIOSH DART-02-191 (http://frictioncenter.engr.siu.edu/Media/NIOSH%20%20DART-02-191%20r1-1%20med%20res.pdf)
- Bello D, Hart AJ, Ahn K, Hallock M, Yamamoto N, Garcia EJ, Ellenbecker MJ, Wardle BL (2008) Particle exposure levels during CVD growth and subsequent handling of vertically-aligned carbon nanotube films Carbon **46:974-977**
- Bello D, Wardle BL, Yamamoto N, deVilloria RG, Garcia EJ, Hart AJ, Ahn K, Ellenbecker MJ, Hallock M (2009) Exposure to nanoscale particles and fibers during machining of hybrid advanced composites containing carbon nanotubes. J Nanopart Res 11:231-249
- Bello D, Wardle BL, Zhang J, Yamamoto N, Santeufemio C, Hallock M, Virji MA (2010) Characterization of exposures to nanoscale particles and fibers during solid core drilling of hybrid carbon nanotube advanced composites. Int J Occup Environ Health 16:434-450
- Belyanskaya L, Weigel S, Hirsch C, Tobler U, Krug HF & Wick P (2009) Effects of carbon nanotubes on primary neurons and glial cells. Neurotoxicology 30:702-711
- Bouillard J, Vignes A, Dufaud O, Perrin L, Thomas D (2009) Explosion risks from nanomaterials. J Physics 170:1-4
- Brown DM, Kinloch IA, Bangert U, Windle AH, Walter DM, Walker GS, Scotchford CA, Donaldson K & Stone V (2007) An in vitro study of the potential of carbon nanotubes and nanofibres to induce inflammatory mediators and frustrated phagocytosis. Carbon 45:1743-1756
- Bushhan B. Springer handbook of nanotechnology. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer 2004.
- Cheng JP, Chan CM, Veca LM, Poon WL, Chan PK, Qu LW, Sun YP & Cheng SH (2009) Acute and long-term effects after single loading of functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes into zebrafish (Danio rerio). Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 235:216-225
- Cherukuri P, Gannon CJ, Leeuw TK, Schmidt HK, Smalley RE, Curley SA & Weisman RB (2006) Mammalian pharmacokinetics of carbon nanotubes using intrinsic near-infrared fluorescence. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103:18882-18886

- Chico L, Crespi Vh, Benedict Lx, Louie Sg & Cohen Ml (1996) Pure carbon nanoscale devices: Nanotube heterojunctions. Physical Review Letters 76:971-974
- Chou C-C, Hsiao H-Y, Hong Q-S, Chen C-H, Peng Y-W, Chen H-W & Yang P-C (2008) Single-walled carbon nanotubes can induce pulmonary injury in mouse model. Nano Letters 8:437-445
- Crosera M, Bovenzi M, Maina G, Adami G, Zanette C, Florio C, Filon Larese F (2009) Nanoparticle dermal absorption and toxicity: a review of the literature. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 82:1043-1055
- Cveticanin J, Joksic G, Leskovac A, Petrovic S, Sobot AV & Neskovic O (2010) Using carbon nanotubes to induce micronuclei and double strand breaks of the DNA in human cells. Nanotechnology 21
- Dai, H (2002). Carbon nanotubes: Synthesis, integration, and properties. Acc Chem Res 35:1035-1044
- Deng X, Jia G, Wang H, Sun H, Wang X, Yang S, Wang T & Liu Y (2007) Translocation and fate of multi-walled carbon nanotubes in vivo. Carbon 45:1419-1424
- Deng XY, Wu F, Liu Z, Luo M, Li L, Ni QS, Jiao Z, Wu MH & Liu YF (2009) The splenic toxicity of water soluble multi-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. Carbon 47:1421-1428
- Donaldson K, Aitken R, Tran L, Stone V, Duffin R, Forrest G & Alexander A (2006) Carbon nanotubes: A review of their properties in relation to pulmonary toxicology and workplace safety. Toxicological Sciences 92:5-22
- Donaldson K, Tran L, Jimenez LA, Duffin R, Newby DE, Mills N, MacNee W, Stone V (2005) Combustion-derived nanoparticles: A review of their toxicology following inhalation exposure. Particle and Fibre Toxicology 2:10
- Donaldson K, Murphy Fa, Duffin R & Poland Ca (2010) Asbestos, carbon nanotubes and the pleural mesothelium: a review of the hypothesis regarding the role of long fibre retention in the parietal pleura, inflammation and mesothelioma. Particle and Fibre Toxicology 7:5
- Elgrabli D, Floriani M, Abella-Gallart S, Meunier L, Gamez C, Delalain P, Rogerieux F, Boczkowski J & Lacroix G (2008) Biodistribution and clearance of instilled carbon nanotubes in rat lung. Particle and Fibre Toxicology 5
- Ellinger-Ziegelbauer H & Pauluhn J (2009) Pulmonary toxicity of multi-walled carbon nanotubes (Baytubes (R)) relative to alpha-quartz following a single 6 h inhalation exposure of rats and a 3 months post-exposure period. Toxicology 266:16-29
- ENRHES (2009) Engineered nanoparticles: review of health and environmental safety.
- Erdely A, Hulderman T, Salmen R, Liston A, Zeidler-Erdely PC, Schwegler-Berry D, Castranova V, Koyama S, Kim YA, Endo M & Simeonova PP (2009) Cross-Talk between Lung and Systemic Circulation during Carbon Nanotube Respiratory Exposure. Potential Biomarkers. Nano Letters 9:36-43
- Folkmann JK, Risom L, Jacobsen NR, Wallin H, Loft S & Moller P (2009) Oxidatively Damaged DNA in Rats Exposed by Oral Gavage to C-60 Fullerenes and Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes. Environmental Health Perspectives 117:703-708
- Gaillard C, Cellot G, Li SP, Toma FM, Dumortier H, Spalluto G, Cacciari B, Prato M, Ballerini L & Bianco A (2009) Carbon Nanotubes Carrying Cell-Adhesion Peptides do not Interfere with Neuronal Functionality. Advanced Materials 21:2903-+
- Georgin D, Czarny B, Botquin M, Mayne-L'Hermite M, Pinault M, Bouchet-Fabre B, Carriere M, Poncy JL, Chau Q, Maximilien R, Dive V & Taran F (2009) Preparation of C-14-Labeled Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes for Biodistribution Investigations. Journal of the American Chemical Society 131:14658-+
- Golanski L, Guiot A, Rouillon F, Pocachard J, Tardif F (2009) Experimental evaluation of personal protection devices against graphite nanoaerosols: fibrous filter media, masks, protective clothing, and gloves. Hum Exp Toxicol 28:353-9
- Gross P (1981) Consideration of the Aerodynamic Equivalent Diameter of Respirable Mineral Fibers. American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal 42:449-452
- Guo T, Nikolaev P, Rinzler Ag, Tomanek D, Colbert Dt & Smalley Re (1995a) Self-Assembly of Tubular Fullerenes. Journal of Physical Chemistry 99:10694-10697
- Guo T, Nikolaev P, Thess A, Colbert Dt & Smalley Re (1995b) Catalytic Growth of Single-Walled Nanotubes by Laser Vaporization. Chemical Physics Letters 243:49-54
- Guo JX, Zhang X, Li QN & Li WX (2007) Biodistribution of functionalized multiwall carbon nanotubes in mice. Nuclear Medicine and Biology 34:579-583

- Hamad I, Christy Hunter A, Rutt KJ, Liu Z, Dai H & Moein Moghimi S (2008) Complement activation by PEGylated single-walled carbon nanotubes is independent of C1q and alternative pathway turnover. Mol Immunol 45:3797-803
- Han JH, Lee EJ, Lee JH, So KP, Lee YH, Bae GN, Lee SB, Ji JH, Cho MH, Yu IJ (2008) Monitoring multiwalled carbon nanotube exposure in carbon nanotube research facility. Inhal Toxicol 20:741-49
- Harris Pjf (2004) Carbon nanotube composites. International Materials Reviews 49:31-43
- Helland A, Wick P, Koehler A, Schmid K, Som C (2007) Reviewing the environmental and human health knowledge base of carbon nanotubes. Environ Health Perspect 115:1125-31
- Hersam Mc (2008) Progress towards monodisperse single-walled carbon nanotubes. Nature Nanotechnology 3:387-394
- Hinds WC (1999) Aerosol technology Properties, behavior, and measurement of airborne particles. 2nd ed., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Canada
- Hirsch A & Vostrowsky O (2005) Functionalization of carbon nanotubes. Functional Molecular Nanostructures 245:193-237
- Hou Px, Xu St, Ying Z, Yang Qh, Liu C & Cheng Hm (2003) Hydrogen adsorption/desorption behavior of multi-walled carbon nanotubes with different diameters. Carbon 41:2471-2476
- HSE, Health and Safety Executive (2009) Risk management of carbon nanotubes
- Huang Xy, Mclean Rs & Zheng M (2005) High-resolution length sorting and purification of DNAwrapped carbon nanotubes by size-exclusion chromatography. Analytical Chemistry 77:6225-6228
- Huczko A & Lange H (2001) Carbon nanotubes: Experimental evidence for a null risk of skin irritation and allergy. Fullerene Science and Technology 9:247-250
- Hussain F, Hojjati M, Okamoto M, Gorga RE (2006) Polymer-matrix nanocomposites, processing, manufacturing , and application. J Compos Mater 40:1511
- IFA (2009) Criteria for assessment of the effectiveness of protective measures. http://www.dguv.de/ifa/en/fac/nanopartikel/beurteilungsmassstaebe/index.jsp. Accessed 3 September 2010
- Iijima S (1991) Helical Microtubules of Graphitic Carbon. Nature 354:56-58
- Inoue K, Koike E, Yanagisaw R, Hirano S, Nishikawa M & Takano H (2009) Effects of multi-walled carbon nanotubes on a murine allergic airway inflammation model. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 237:306-316
- Inoue K, Takano H, Koike E, Yanagisawa R, Sakurai M, Tasaka S, Ishizaka A & Shimada A (2008) Effects of Pulmonary Exposure to Carbon Nanotubes on Lung and Systemic Inflammation with Coagulatory Disturbance Induced by Lipopolysaccharide in Mice. Experimental Biology and Medicine 233:1583-159
- Inoue K, Yanagisawa R, Koike E, Nishikawa M & Takano H (2010) Repeated pulmonary exposure to single-walled carbon nanotubes exacerbates allergic inflammation of the airway: Possible role of oxidative stress. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 48:924-934
- iRAP, Innovative Research and Products, Inc (2011) Production and applications of carbon nanotubes, carbon nanofibers, fullerenes, graphene and nanodiamonds: A global technology survey and market analysis. ET-113, Stamford, CT, U.S.
- Jacobsen NR, Pojana G, White P, Møller P, Cohn CA, Korsholm KS, Vogel U, Marcomini A, Loft S & Wallin H (2008) Genotoxicity, cytotoxicity, and reactive oxygen species induced by single-walled carbon nanotubes and C(60) fullerenes in the FE1-Mutatrade markMouse lung epithelial cells. Environmental And Molecular Mutagenesis 49:476-487
- Ji ZF, Zhang DY, Li L, Shen XZ, Deng XY, Dong L, Wu MH & Liu YF (2009) The hepatotoxicity of multi-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. Nanotechnology 20
- Jia FM, Wu L, Meng J, Yang M, Kong H, Liu TJ & Xu HY (2009) Preparation, characterization and fluorescent imaging of multi-walled carbon nanotube-porphyrin conjugate. Journal of Materials Chemistry 19:8950-8957
- Johnston HJ, Hutchison GR, Christensen FM, Peters S, Hankin S, Aschberger K & Stone V (2010) A critical review of the biological mechanisms underlying the in vivo and in vitro toxicity of carbon nanotubes: The contribution of physico-chemical characteristics. Nanotoxicology 4:207-46
- Johnson DR, Methner MM, Kennedy AJ, Steevens JA (2010) Potential for occupational exposure to engineered carbon-based nanomaterial in environmental laboratory studies. Environ Health Perspect 118:49-54

- Jorio A, Saito R, Hafner Jh, Lieber Cm, Hunter M, Mcclure T, Dresselhaus G & Dresselhaus Ms (2001) Structural (n,m) determination of isolated single wall carbon nanotubes by resonant Raman scattering. Nanonetwork Materials: Fullerenes, Nanotubes and Related Systems 590:129-132
- Journet C, Maser Wk, Bernier P, Loiseau A, Delachapelle Ml, Lefrant S, Deniard P, Lee R & Fischer Je (1997) Large-scale production of single-walled carbon nanotubes by the electric-arc technique. Nature 388:756-758
- Kagan VE, Konduru NV, Feng WH, Allen BL, Conroy J, Volkov Y, Vlasova II, Belikova NA, Yanamala N, Kapralov A, Tyurina YY, Shi JW, Kisin ER, Murray AR, Franks J, Stolz D, Gou PP, Klein-Seetharaman J, Fadeel B, Star A & Shvedova AA (2010) Carbon nanotubes degraded by neutrophil myeloperoxidase induce less pulmonary inflammation. Nature Nanotechnology 5:354-359
- Kagan VE, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Konduru NV, Potapovich AI, Osipov AN, Kisin ER, Schwegler-Berry D, Mercer R, Castranova V & Shvedova AA (2006) Direct and indirect effects of single walled carbon nanotubes on RAW 264.7 macrophages: Role of iron. Toxicology Letters 165:88-100
- Kang B, Yu DC, Dai YD, Chang SQ, Chen D & Ding YT (2009) Biodistribution and accumulation of intravenously administered carbon nanotubes in mice probed by Raman spectroscopy and fluorescent labeling. Carbon 47:1189-1192
- Kemi, Kemikalieinspektionen (2009) Användningen av nanomaterial i Sverige 2008 analys och prognos. PM1/09, Sundbyberg
- Keren S, Zavaleta C, Cheng Z, de la Zerda A, Gheysens O & Gambhir SS (2008) Noninvasive molecular imaging of small living subjects using Raman spectroscopy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:5844-5849
- Kishore AS, Surekha P & Murthy PB (2009) Assessment of the dermal and ocular irritation potential of multi-walled carbon nanotubes by using in vitro and in vivo methods. Toxicology Letters 191:268-274
- Kisin ER, Murray AR, Keane MJ, Shi XC, Schwegler-Berry D, Gorelik O, Arepalli S, Castranova V, Wallace WE, Kagan VE & Shvedova AA (2007) Single-walled carbon nanotubes: Geno- and cytotoxic effects in lung fibroblast V79 cells. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health-Part a-Current Issues 70:2071-2079
- Kobayashi N, Naya M, Ema M, Endoh S, Maru J, Mizuno K & Nakanishi J (2010) Biological response and morphological assessment of individually dispersed multi-wall carbon nanotubes in the lung after intratracheal instillation in rats. Toxicology 276:143-53
- Kolosnjaj-Tabi J, Hartman KB, Boudjemaa S, Ananta JS, Morgant G, Szwarc H, Wilson LJ & Moussa F (2010) In Vivo Behavior of Large Doses of Ultrashort and Full-Length Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes after Oral and Intraperitoneal Administration to Swiss Mice. Acs Nano 4:1481-1492
- Kostarelos K, Bianco A, Prato M (2009) Promises, facts and challenges for carbon nanotubes in imaging and therapeutics. Nat Nanotechnol 4:627-33
- Kumar M, Ando Y (2010) Chemical vapor deposition of carbon nanotubes: a review on growth mechanism and mass production. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 10:3739-58
- Kymakis E, Alexandou I & Amaratunga Gaj (2002) Single-walled carbon nanotube-polymer composites: electrical, optical and structural investigation. Synthetic Metals 127:59-62
- Köhler AR, Som C, Helland A, Gottschalk F (2008) Studying the potential release of carbon nanotubes throught the application life cycle. J Cleaner Production 16: 927-937
- Lacerda L, Herrero MA, Venner K, Bianco A, Prato M & Kostarelos K (2008a) Carbon-nanotube shape and individualization critical for renal excretion. Small 4:1130-1132
- Lacerda L, Soundararajan A, Singh R, Pastorin G, Al-Jamal KT, Turton J, Frederik P, Herrero MA, Bao SLA, Emfietzoglou D, Mather S, Phillips WT, Prato M, Bianco A, Goins B & Kostarelos K (2008b) Dynamic Imaging of functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotube systemic circulation and urinary excretion. Advanced Materials 20:225-+
- Lam CW, James JT, McCluskey R, Arepalli S, Hunter RL (**2006**) A review of carbon nanotube toxicity and assessment of potential occupational and environmental health risks. **Crit Rev Toxicol 36:189-217**
- Lam CW, James JT, McCluskey R & Hunter RL (2004) Pulmonary toxicity of single-wall carbon nanotubes in mice 7 and 90 days after intratracheal instillation. Toxicological Sciences 77:126-134
- Lee JH, Lee SB, Bae GN, Jeon KS, Yoon JU, Ji JH, Sung JH, Lee BG, Lee JH, Yang JS, Kim HY, Kang CS, Yu IJ (2010) Exposure assessment of carbon nanotube manufacturing workplaces. Inhal Toxicol 22:369-81

- Lee Kg, Wi R, Imran M, Park Tj, Lee J, Lee Sy & Kim Dh (2010) Functionalization Effects of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes as Templates for the Synthesis of Silica Nanorods and Study of Growing Mechanism of Silica. Acs Nano 4:3933-3942
- Legramante JM, Valentini F, Magrini A, Palleschi G, Sacco S, Iavicoli I, Pallante M, Moscone D, Galante A, Bergamaschi E, Bergamaschi A & Pietroiusti A (2009) Cardiac autonomic regulation after lung exposure to carbon nanotubes. Human & Experimental Toxicology 28:369-375
- Li JG, Li WX, Xu JY, Cai XQ, Liu RL, Li YJ, Zhao QF & Li QN (2007a) Comparative study of pathological lesions induced by multiwalled carbon nanotubes in lungs of mice by intratracheal instillation and inhalation. Environmental Toxicology 22:415-421
- Li Z, Hulderman T, Salmen R, Chapman R, Leonard SS, Young SH, Shvedova A, Luster MI & Simeonova PP (2007b) Cardiovascular effects of pulmonary exposure to single-wall carbon nanotubes. Environmental Health Perspectives 115:377-382
- Lindberg HK, Falck GCM, Suhonen S, Vippola M, Vanhala E, Catalán J, Savolainen K & Norppa H (2009) Genotoxicity of nanomaterials: DNA damage and micronuclei induced by carbon nanotubes and graphite nanofibres in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro. Toxicology Letters 186:166-173
- Lippmann M (1990) Effects of Fiber Characteristics on Lung Deposition, Retention, and Disease. Environmental Health Perspectives 88:311-317
- Liu Z, Davis C, Cai WB, He L, Chen XY & Dai HJ (2008) Circulation and long-term fate of functionalized, biocompatible single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice probed by Raman spectroscopy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:1410-1415
- Liu J, Rinzler Ag, Dai Hj, Hafner Jh, Bradley Rk, Boul Pj, Lu A, Iverson T, Shelimov K, Huffman Cb, Rodriguez-Macias F, Shon Ys, Lee Tr, Colbert Dt & Smalley Re (1998) Fullerene pipes. Science 280:1253-1256
- Lu X & Chen Zf (2005) Curved Pi-conjugation, aromaticity, and the related chemistry of small fullerenes (< C-60) and single-walled carbon nanotubes. Chemical Reviews 105:3643-3696
- Mahar B, Laslau C, Yip R & Sun Y (2007) Development of carbon nanotube-based sensors A review. Ieee Sensors Journal 7:266-284
- Ma-Hock L, Treumann S, Strauss V, Brill S, Luizi F, Mertler M, Wiench K, Gamer AO, van Ravenzwaay B & Landsiedel R (2009) Inhalation Toxicity of Multiwall Carbon Nanotubes in Rats Exposed for 3 Months. Toxicological Sciences 112:468-481
- Maynard AD, Baron PA, Foley M, Shvedova AA, Kisin ER, Castranova V (2004) Exposure to carbon nanotube material: aerosol release during the handling of unrefined single-walled carbon nanotube material. J Toxicol Environ Health A 67:87-107
- Maynard Ad, Ku Bk, Emery M, Stolzenburg M & Mcmurry Ph (2007) Measuring particle sizedependent physicochemical structure in airborne single walled carbon nanotube agglomerates. Journal of Nanoparticle Research 9:85-92
- Maynard AD (2007) Nanotechnology: the next big thing, or much ado about nothing? Ann Occup Hyg 51:1-12
- McDevitt MR, Chattopadhyay D, Jaggi JS, Finn RD, Zanzonico PB, Villa C, Rey D, Mendenhall J, Batt CA, Njardarson JT & Scheinberg DA (2007) PET Imaging of Soluble Yttrium-86-Labeled Carbon Nanotubes in Mice. Plos One 2
- Mercer RR, Hubbs AF, Scabilloni JF, Wang LY, Battelli LA, Schwegler-Berry D, Castranova V & Porter DW (2010) Distribution and persistence of pleural penetrations by multi-walled carbon nanotubes. Particle and Fibre Toxicology 7:-
- Mercer Rr, Scabilloni J, Wang L, Kisin E, Murray Ar, Schwegler-Berry D, Shvedova Aa & Castranova V (2008) Alteration of deposition pattern and pulmonary response as a result of improved dispersion of aspirated single-walled carbon nanotubes in a mouse model. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 294:L87-L97
- Methner MM (2008) Engineering case reports. Effectiveness of local exhaust ventilation (LEV) in controlling engineered nanomaterial emissions during reactor cleanout operations. J Occup Environ Hyg 5:D63-9
- Methner M, Hodson L, Geraci C (2010a) Nanoparticle Emission Assessment Technique (NEAT) for the Identification and Measurement of Potential Inhalation Exposure to Engineered Nanomaterials – Part A. J Occup Environ Hyg 7:127-32

- Methner M, Hodson L, Dames A, Geraci C (2010b) Nanoparticle Emission Assessment Technique (NEAT) for the identification and measurement of potential inhalation exposure to engineered nanomaterials--Part B: Results from 12 field studies. J Occup Environ Hyg 7:163-76
- Migliore L, Saracino D, Bonelli A, Colognato R, D'Errico MR, Magrini A, Bergamaschi A & Bergamaschi E (2010) Carbon Nanotubes Induce Oxidative DNA Damage in RAW 264.7 Cells. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis 51:294-303
- Mitchell LA, Gao J, Wal RV, Gigliotti A, Burchiel SW & McDonald JD (2007) Pulmonary and systemic immune response to inhaled multiwalled carbon nanotubes. Toxicological Sciences 100:203-214
- Muller J, Decordier I, Hoet PH, Lombaert N, Thomassen L, Huaux F, Lison D & Kirsch-Volders M (2008) Clastogenic and aneugenic effects of multi-wall carbon nanotubes in epithelial cells. Carcinogenesis 29:427-433
- Muller J, Delos M, Panin N, Rabolli V, Huaux F & Lison D (2009) Absence of Carcinogenic Response to Multiwall Carbon Nanotubes in a 2-Year Bioassay in the Peritoneal Cavity of the Rat. Toxicological Sciences 110:442-448
- Muller J, Huaux F, Moreau N, Misson P, Heilier JF, Delos M, Arras M, Fonseca A, Nagy JB & Lison D (2005) Respiratory toxicity of multi-wall carbon nanotubes. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 207:221-231
- Murray AR, Kisin E, Leonard SS, Young SH, Kommineni C, Kagan VE, Castranova V & Shvedova AA (2009) Oxidative stress and inflammatory response in dermal toxicity of single-walled carbon nanotubes. Toxicology 257:161-171
- Mutlu GM, Budinger GRS, Green AA, Urich D, Soberanes S, Chiarella SE, Alheid GF, McCrimmon DR, Szleifer I & Hersam MC (2010) Biocompatible Nanoscale Dispersion of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes Minimizes in vivo Pulmonary Toxicity. Nano Letters 10:1664-1670
- Nanocyl. http://www.nanocyl.com/; 2010-11-04
- Nanosafe (2008) Safe production and use of nanomaterials. European Strategy for Nanosafety
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (2009) Approaches to safe nanotechnology: an information exchange with NIOSH
- Nygaard UC, Hansen JS, Samuelsen M, Alberg T, Marioara CD & Lovik M (2009) Single-Walled and Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes Promote Allergic Immune Responses in Mice. Toxicological Sciences 109:113-123
- Ochoa-Olmos OE, Montero-Montoya R, Serrano-Garcia L & Basiuk EV (2009) Genotoxic Properties of Nylon-6/MWNTs Nanohybrid. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology 9:4727-4734
- Patlolla A, Patlolla B & Tchounwou P (2010) Evaluation of cell viability, DNA damage, and cell death in normal human dermal fibroblast cells induced by functionalized multiwalled carbon nanotube. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry 338:225-232
- Pauluhn J (2010) Subchronic 13-Week Inhalation Exposure of Rats to Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes: Toxic Effects Are Determined by Density of Agglomerate Structures, Not Fibrillar Structures. Toxicological Sciences 113:226-242
- Peigney A, Laurent C, Flahaut E, Bacsa Rr & Rousset A (2001) Specific surface area of carbon nanotubes and bundles of carbon nanotubes. Carbon 39:507-514
- Personlig kommunikation med Patrik Fernberg, Swerea Sicomp, oktober 2010
- Poland CA, Duffin R, Kinloch I, Maynard A, Wallace WAH, Seaton A, Stone V, Brown S, MacNee W & Donaldson K (2008) Carbon nanotubes introduced into the abdominal cavity of mice show asbestos-like pathogenicity in a pilot study. Nature Nanotechnology 3:423-428
- Popov Vn (2004) Carbon nanotubes: properties and application. Materials Science & Engineering R-Reports 43:61-102
- Porter DW, Hubbs AF, Mercer RR, Wu NQ, Wolfarth MG, Sriram K, Leonard S, Battelli L, Schwegler-Berry D, Friend S, Andrew M, Chen BT, Tsuruoka S, Endo M & Castranova V (2010) Mouse pulmonary dose- and time course-responses induced by exposure to multi-walled carbon nanotubes. Toxicology 269:136-147
- Rinzler Ag, Liu J, Dai H, Nikolaev P, Huffman Cb, Rodriguez-Macias Fj, Boul Pj, Lu Ah, Heymann D, Colbert Dt, Lee Rs, Fischer Je, Rao Am, Eklund Pc & Smalley Re (1998) Large-scale purification of single-wall carbon nanotubes: process, product, and characterization. Applied Physics a-Materials Science & Processing 67:29-37

- Rotoli BM, Bussolati O, Barilli A, Zanello PP, Bianchi MG, Magrini A, Pietroiusti A, Bergamaschi A & Bergamaschi E (2009) Airway barrier dysfunction induced by exposure to carbon nanotubes in vitro: which role for fiber length? Human & Experimental Toxicology 28:361-368
- Rotoli BM, Bussolati O, Bianchi MG, Barilli A, Balasubramanian C, Bellucci S & Bergamaschi E (2008) Non-functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes alter the paracellular permeability of human airway epithelial cells. Toxicology Letters 178:95-102
- Ruoff Rs, Tersoff J, Lorents Dc, Subramoney S & Chan B (1993) Radial Deformation of Carbon Nanotubes by Van-Der-Waals Forces. Nature 364:514-516
- Ryman-Rasmussen JP, Cesta MF, Brody AR, Shipley-Phillips JK, Everitt JI, Tewksbury EW, Moss OR, Wong BA, Dodd DE, Andersen ME & Bonner JC (2009a) Inhaled carbon nanotubes reach the subpleural tissue in mice. Nature Nanotechnology 4:747-751
- Ryman-Rasmussen JP, Tewksbury EW, Moss OR, Cesta MF, Wong BA & Bonner JC (2009b) Inhaled Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes Potentiate Airway Fibrosis in Murine Allergic Asthma. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology 40:349-358
- Sakamoto Y, Nakae D, Fukumori N, Tayama K, Maekawa A, Imai K, Hirose A, Nishimura T, Ohashi N & Ogata A (2009) Induction of mesothelioma by a single intrascrotal administration of multiwall carbon nanotube in intact male Fischer 344 rats. Journal of Toxicological Sciences 34:65-76
- Salvador-Morales C, Flahaut E, Sim E, Sloan J, Green ML & Sim RB (2006) Complement activation and protein adsorption by carbon nanotubes. Mol Immunol 43:193-201
- Sargent LM, Shvedova AA, Hubbs AF, Salisbury JL, Benkovic SA, Kashon ML, Lowry DT, Murray AR, Kisin ER, Friend S, McKinstry KT, Battelli L & Reynolds SH (2009) Induction of Aneuploidy by Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis 50:708-717
- Sass J, Musu T; Burns K, Illuminato I (2008) Nanomaterials: brief review of policy frameworks in the US and Europe and recommendations from an occupational and environmental perspective. Eur J Oncol 13:211-218
- Sato Y, Yokoyama A, Shibata K-i, Akimoto Y, Ogino S-i, Nodasaka Y, Kohgo T, Tamura K, Akasaka T, Uo M, Motomiya K, Jeyadevan B, Ishiguro M, Hatakeyama R, Watari F & Tohji K (2005) Influence of length on cytotoxicity of multi-walled carbon nanotubes against human acute monocytic leukemia cell line THP-1 in vitro and subcutaneous tissue of rats in vivo. Molecular Biosystems 1:176-182
- Savolainen K, Pylkkanen L, Norppa H, et al (**2010**) Nanotechnologies, engineered nanomaterials and occupational health and safety A review. **Safety science** 48:**957-**963
- Saxena RK, Williams W, McGee JK, Daniels MJ, Boykin E & Gilmour MI (2007) Enhanced in vitro and in vivo toxicity of poly-dispersed acid-functionalized single-wall carbon nanotubes. Nanotoxicology 1:291-300
- Sayes Cm, Liang F, Hudson Jl, Mendez J, Guo Wh, Beach Jm, Moore Vc, Doyle Cd, West Jl, Billups We, Ausman Kd & Colvin Vl (2006) Functionalization density dependence of single-walled carbon nanotubes cytotoxicity in vitro. Toxicology Letters 161:135-142
- Schipper ML, Nakayama-Ratchford N, Davis CR, Kam NWS, Chu P, Liu Z, Sun XM, Dai HJ & Gambhir SS (2008) A pilot toxicology study of single-walled carbon nanotubes in a small sample of mice. Nature Nanotechnology 3:216-221
- Schneider T et al (2007) Evaluation and control of occupational health risks from nanoparticles. TemaNord 2007:581, Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen
- Schulte P, Geraci C, Zumwalde R, Hoover M, Kuempel E (2008) Occupational Risk Management of Engineered Nanoparticles. J Occup Environ Hyg 5:239–249
- Schulte PA, Murashov V, Zumwalde R, Kuempel ED, Geraci CL (2010) Occupational exposure limits for nanomaterials: state of the art. J Nanopart Res 12:1971–1987
- Shi Zj, Lian Yf, Liao Fh, Zhou Xh, Gu Zn, Zhang Y, Iijima S, Li Hd, Yue Kt & Zhang Sl (2000) Large scale synthesis of single-wall carbon nanotubes by arc-discharge method. Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids 61:1031-1036
- Shvedova AA, Castranova V, Kisin ER, Schwegler-Berry D, Murray AR, Gandelsman VZ, Maynard A & Baron P (2003) Exposure to carbon nanotube material: Assessment of nanotube cytotoxicity using human keratinocyte cells. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health-Part A 66:1909-1926
- Shvedova AA, Fabisiak JP, Kisin ER, Murray AR, Roberts JR, Tyurina YY, Antonini JM, Feng WH, Kommineni C, Reynolds J, Barchowsky A, Castranova V & Kagan VE (2008a) Sequential exposure

to carbon nanotubes and bacteria enhances pulmonary inflammation and infectivity. American Journal Of Respiratory Cell And Molecular Biology 38:579-590

- Shvedova Aa, Kisin Er, Mercer R, Murray Ar, Johnson Vj, Potapovich Ai, Tyurina Yy, Gorelik O, Arepalli S, Schwegler-Berry D, Hubbs Af, Antonini J, Evans De, Ku Bk, Ramsey D, Maynard A, Kagan Ve, Castranova V & Baron P (2005) Unusual inflammatory and fibrogenic pulmonary responses to single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 289:L698-L708
- Shvedova AA, Kisin E, Murray AR, Johnson VJ, Gorelik O, Arepalli S, Hubbs AF, Mercer RR, Keohavong P, Sussman N, Jin J, Yin J, Stone S, Chen BT, Deye G, Maynard A, Castranova V, Baron PA & Kagan VE (2008b) Inhalation vs. aspiration of single-walled carbon nanotubes in C57BL/6 mice: inflammation, fibrosis, oxidative stress, and mutagenesis. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 295:L552-L565
- Singh R, Pantarotto D, Lacerda L, Pastorin G, Klumpp C, Prato M, Bianco A & Kostarelos K (2006) Tissue biodistribution and blood clearance rates of intravenously administered carbon nanotube radiotracers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103:3357-3362
- Takagi A, Hirose A, Nishimura T, Fukumori N, Ogata A, Ohashi N, Kitajima S & Kanno J (2008) Induction of mesothelioma in p53+/- mouse by intraperitoneal application of multi-wall carbon nanotube. Journal of Toxicological Sciences 33:105-116
- Takaya M, Serita F, Ono-Ogasawara M, Shinohara Y, Saito H, Koda S (2010) [Airborne particles in a multi-wall carbon nanotube production plant: observation of particle emission and personal exposure 1: Measurement in the packing process]. Sangyo Eiseigaku Zasshi 52:182-8 [article in Japanese]
- Tanaka T, Jin H, Miyata Y, Fujii S, Suga H, Naitoh Y, Minari T, Miyadera T, Tsukagoshi K & Kataura H (2009a) Simple and Scalable Gel-Based Separation of Metallic and Semiconducting Carbon Nanotubes. Nano Letters 9:1497-1500
- Tanaka T, Urabe Y, Nishide D & Kataura H (2009b) Continuous Separation of Metallic and Semiconducting Carbon Nanotubes Using Agarose Gel. Applied Physics Express 2:-
- Thomas T, Bahadori T, Savage N, Thomas K (2009) Moving toward exposure and risk evaluation of nanomaterials: challenges and future directions. Wiley interdisciplinary reviews-nanomedicine and nanotechnology 1:426-433
- Thostenson ET, Ren ZF & Chou TW (2001) Advances in the science and technology of carbon nanotubes and their composites: a review. Composites Science and Technology 61:1899-1912
- Tong HY, McGee JK, Saxena RK, Kodavanti UP, Devlin RB & Gilmour MI (2009) Influence of acid functionalization on the cardiopulmonary toxicity of carbon nanotubes and carbon black particles in mice. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 239:224-232
- Tu Xm, Manohar S, Jagota A & Zheng M (2009) DNA sequence motifs for structure-specific recognition and separation of carbon nanotubes. Nature 460:250-253
- Walters Da, Ericson Lm, Casavant Mj, Liu J, Colbert Dt, Smith Ka & Smalley Re (1999) Elastic strain of freely suspended single-wall carbon nanotube ropes. Applied Physics Letters 74:3803-3805
- Wang J, Deng XY, Yang ST, Wang HF, Zhao YL & Liu YF (2008) Rapid translocation and pharmacokinetics of hydroxylated single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. Nanotoxicology 2:28-32
- Wang XS, Li QQ, Xie J, Jin Z, Wang JY, Li Y, Jiang KL & Fan SS (2009) Fabrication of Ultralong and Electrically Uniform Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes on Clean Substrates. Nano Letters 9:3137-3141
- Wikipedia. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Carbon_nanotube; 2010-11-04.
- WHO (World Health Organization) 1997 Determination of airborne fibre number concentrations. A recommended method by phase-contrast microscopy (membrane filter method), Geneva
- WTEC (2007) Panel Report on International assessment of research and development of carbon nanotube manufacturing and applications, World Technology Center Inc., US
- Wu M, Gordon RE, Herbert R, Padilla M, Moline J, Mendelson D, Litle V, Travis WD & Gil J (2010) Case report: Lung disease in World Trade Center responders exposed to dust and smoke: carbon nanotubes found in the lungs of World Trade Center patients and dust samples. Environ Health Perspect 118:499-504
- Varga C & Szendi K (2010) Carbon Nanotubes Induce Granulomas but Not Mesotheliomas. In Vivo 24:153-156
- Xu HF, Bai J, Meng J, Hao W, Xu HY & Cao JM (2009) Multi-walled carbon nanotubes suppress potassium channel activities in PC12 cells. Nanotechnology 20:-
- Yamashita K, Yoshioka Y, Higashisaka K, Morishita Y, Yoshida T, Fujimura M, Kayamuro H, Nabeshi H, Yamashita T, Nagano K, Abe Y, Kamada H, Kawai Y, Mayumi T, Yoshikawa T, Itoh N, Tsunoda S & Tsutsumi Y (2010) Carbon Nanotubes Elicit DNA Damage and Inflammatory Response Relative to Their Size and Shape. Inflammation 33:276-280
- Yang ST, Fernando KAS, Liu JH, Wang J, Sun HF, Liu YF, Chen M, Huang YP, Wang X, Wang HF & Sun YP (2008a) Covalently PEGylated carbon nanotubes with stealth character in vivo. Small 4:940-944
- Yang ST, Guo W, Lin Y, Deng XY, Wang HF, Sun HF, Liu YF, Wang X, Wang W, Chen M, Huang YP & Sun YP (2007) Biodistribution of pristine single-walled carbon nanotubes in vivo. Journal of Physical Chemistry C 111:17761-17764
- Yang ST, Wang HF, Meziani MJ, Liu YF, Wang X & Sun YP (2009) Biodefunctionalization of Functionalized Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes in Mice. Biomacromolecules 10:2009-2012
- Yang ST, Wang X, Jia G, Gu YQ, Wang TC, Nie HY, Ge CC, Wang HF & Liu YF (2008b) Long-term accumulation and low toxicity of single-walled carbon nanotubes in intravenously exposed mice. Toxicology Letters 181:182-189
- Yang Z, Zhang YG, Yang YLA, Sun L, Han D, Li H & Wang C (2010) Pharmacological and toxicological target organelles and safe use of single-walled carbon nanotubes as drug carriers in treating Alzheimer disease. Nanomedicine-Nanotechnology Biology and Medicine 6:427-441
- Ye Y, Ahn Cc, Witham C, Fultz B, Liu J, Rinzler Ag, Colbert D, Smith Ka & Smalley Re (1999) Hydrogen adsorption and cohesive energy of single-walled carbon nanotubes. Applied Physics Letters 74:2307-2309
- Yeganeh B, Kull CM, Hull MS, Marr LC (2008) Characterization of airborne praticle s during production of carbonaceous nanomaterials. Environ Sci Technol 42:4600-4606
- Yu Mf, Files Bs, Arepalli S & Ruoff Rs (2000) Tensile loading of ropes of single wall carbon nanotubes and their mechanical properties. Physical Review Letters 84:5552-5555
- Zeni O, Palumbo R, Bernini R, Zeni L, Sarti M & Scarfi MR (2008) Cytotoxicity investigation on cultured human blood cells treated with single-wall carbon nanotubes. Sensors 8:488-499
- Zhang DY, Deng XY, Ji ZF, Shen XZ, Dong L, Wu MH, Gu TY & Liu YF (2010) Long-term hepatotoxicity of polyethylene-glycol functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. Nanotechnology 21
- Zhang Mf, Yudasaka M, Koshio A & Iijima S (2002) Thermogravimetric analysis of single-wall carbon nanotubes ultrasonicated in monochlorobenzene. Chemical Physics Letters 364:420-426
- Zhu L, Chang DW, Dai LM & Hong YL (2007) DNA damage induced by multiwalled carbon nanotubes in mouse embryonic stem cells. Nano Letters 7:3592-3597



Arbetsmiljöverket 112 79 Stockholm Besöksadress Lindhagensgatan 133 Telefon 010–730 90 00 Fax 08–730 19 67 E-post: arbetsmiljöverket@av.se www.av.se

This publication can be download from www.av.se/publikationer/rapporter/